



Doctor of Philosophy

DEVELOPMENT OF AI-BASED MONITORING AND CONTROL SYSTEM FOR THE CYCLIC MANUFACTURING PROCESS



The Graduate School

of the University of Ulsan

Department of Mechanical Engineering

Saurabh Kumar

DEVELOPMENT OF AI-BASED MONITORING AND CONTROL SYSTEM FOR THE CYCLIC MANUFACTURING PROCESS

Supervisor: Professor Chang Myung Lee

A Dissertation

Submitted to

the Graduate School of the University of Ulsan

In partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Mechanical Engineering

by

Saurabh Kumar

Department of Mechanical Engineering University of Ulsan, Korea [December 2021]

DEVELOPMENT OF AI-BASED SMART MONITORING AND CONTROL SYSTEM FOR THE CYCLIC MANUFACTURING PROCESS

This certifies that the dissertation of Saurabh Kumar is approved.

Committee Chair Dr. Byung Ryong Lee

Committee Member Dr. Ocktaeck Lim Chappen fee Committee Member Dr. Chang Myung Lee

Committee Member Dr. Hyun Joon Chung

Committee Member Dr. Seung Kook Ro

Department of Mechanical Engineering University of Ulsan, Korea

[December 2021]

Dedicated to my family and friends who have supported me the whole way.



Acknowledgment

First of all, I would like to thank my advisor, Prof. Hong Seok Park, and Prof. Chang Myung Lee, especially Prof. Park, who gave me an excellent opportunity to work in the Laboratory of Production Engineering at the University of Ulsan. Apart from imparting immense knowledge of research, they showed kindness, encouragement, and support throughout my research and writing of this thesis.

It has been my pleasure to get training from Prof. Park in terms of doing research work and the successful completion of any research project from the start with satisfactory research outcomes. During my research, I got the opportunity to work with industries to solve real manufacturing-related problems.

I am incredibly grateful to the lab members, past and present, who have been friends, wonderful colleagues, and have been a support throughout the conduct of this piece of research as well as my stay at the University of Ulsan.

I would also take this opportunity to thank Prof. Byeong Ryong Lee, Prof. Ok Taeck Lim, Prof. Hyun Joon Chung, and Prof. Seung Kook Ro for their insightful comments, suggestions, and encouragement, which helped improve the quality of this thesis.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family members for their continuous and unconditional support throughout my study abroad. They have always been a source of motivation. I am also thankful to the beautiful people I met at Ulsan and became good friends with.

Ulsan, December 2021

Saurabh Kumar

Abbreviations

- AI: Artificial Intelligence
- **CBN:** Cubic Boron Nitride
- **DOE:** Design of Experiments
- ARMA: Auto Regressive Moving Average
- **RMS:** Root Mean Square
- NDT: Non Destructive Testing
- **AE:** Acoustic Emission
- **FFT:** Fast Fourier Transform
- **SAE:** Society of Automotive Engineers
- **ANN:** Artificial Neural Network
- **RSM:** Response Surface Methodology
- S/N: Sound to Noise
- **CBR:** Case Based Reasoning
- PID: Potential Integral Derivative
- **RBFNN:** Radial Basis Function Neural Network
- MES: Manufacturing Execution System
- **RPM:** Revolution per Minute
- PLC: Programmable Logic Controller
- **OPC:** Open Platform Communications
- **DAQ:** Data Acquisition
- **UI:** User interface
- **BP:** Back Propagation
- **IMC:** Internal Model Control
- **RELU:** Rectified Linear Unit

CAE: Computer Aided Engineering

SQL: Structured Query Language



Abstract

The success of the manufacturing process, which involves grinding as one of the stages, depends solely on the accuracy of the grinding process. The requirement of the desired surface finish at the last stage of the manufacturing makes it the most crucial stage and prone to quality defects, as this process is mainly done to provide the desired surface finish with very high precision. Complexity and importance make the real-time monitoring and control of the grinding process an essential topic for researchers. Quality defects ruin all previous manufacturing stages and incur a substantial economic loss due to product rejection. The presented thesis aims to develop and implement a monitoring system supplemented by an intelligent decision-making system for the detection and compensation of process failures. Conventionally, the quality of the products depends on the machine behavior and the operator's skill, who changes the process parameters from his own experience and expertise.

Monitoring the grinding process has caught the attention of many researchers, but most of the systems are focused on grinding wheel and other machine component conditions. Machine vision, optical sensors, and AI-based process diagnostic tools generally focus on the detection of failure. Over time various models have been proposed to control grinding tasks. However, they are limited only to optimizing the partial aspects of the grinding process. Hence they are able to reach only level three of the diagnostic and control automation. In this thesis, a vibration sensor-based monitoring system and AI-based decision-making system for the grinding process control are introduced. The in-process signals coming from the installed sensors are used for data collection, failure detection, and making intelligent decisions in autonomous way. Four significant essential process parameters were investigated: grinding wheel RPM, workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed, and coolant flow rate. AI model with supervised learning was used to understand their relationship with the real-time vibration signal coming from the sensors. The model after training and validation was used to make the decisions for the change in the process parameters. The control actions obtained from the AI system are delivered to the machine controller. Software, as well as hardware modules of the developed system, is explained in detail. The functionality of the developed system is also demonstrated through its application into the grinding process of the brake disc. The developed system is installed as an independent software at the industrial PC that can function without any additional CAE or programming tools. The system is a significant contribution towards industry 4. 0 and making the manufacturing facilities autonomous. It has improved the overall productivity of brake disc manufacturing by reducing the occurrence of the quality failure instances and decreasing the dependencies on the operators for the know-how of the process.

This thesis will introduce related literature, followed by the research methodologies involved in the presented piece of research. The influence of critical process parameters on the grinding process is explained. Development of the vibration sensor-based monitoring system follows it. Subsequent sections are developing an intelligent decision-making system, its training, deployment, and implementation at the factory. The final part presents the benefits of this system to the manufacturers.

Table of Contents	
Acknowledgment	i
Abbreviations	ii
Abstract	iv
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	iv
List of Tables	XII
Chapter 1 . GENERAL INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Motivation	13
1.2. State of the art	15
1.2.1. Sensor-assisted monitoring systems	15
1.2.2. Failure prediction and process parameter optimization	
1.2.3. Process control	22
1.2.4. Limitations and research goal	24
Chapter 2 . RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	28
2.1. Research object	28
2.2. Research strategies followed	
2.3. Selection of monitoring and control process parameters	
Chapter 3 . DEVELOPMENT OF THE MONITORING SYSTEM	
3.1. Monitoring system flow chart	
3.2. Data acquisition module	
3.3. Monitoring threshold setting for failure detection	
3.4. User interface design for signal display	40
3.5. Hardware setup and architecture	
3.6. Application of the monitoring system for different purposes	43
3.6.1. For building the reference model database	43
3.6.2. Process parameter optimization	44
3.6.3. Grinding wheel and machine component life analysis	45
3.6.4. For process monitoring and control in terms of autonomous beahvior	46
Chapter 4 . AUTONOMOUS CONTROL SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT	49

4.1. Functional design of the autonomous control system	49
4.2. AI model architecture	57
4.3. Activation functions	60
4.4. Cost function	61
4.5. Data preprocessing for model	62
4.6. AI modeling and its training	63
4.6.1. Supervised learning	64
4.7. Control algorithm for process parameter change	68
Chapter 5 . RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	70
5.1. Implementation of the developed system	70
5.1.2. Integration to the control room	71
5.2. Functionality testing of the developed system	72
5.2.1. Real factory environment testing	72
5.2.2. Benefits to the manufacturer	74
Chapter 6 . AI-BASED MONITORING AND SMART CONTROL OF INJECTION	ſ
MOLDING PROCESS	76
6.1. Introduction	76
6.2. Methodology	80
6.2.1. Generating an analysis model for describing real-world process behavior	80
6.2.2. Deriving a relationship between quality failure and process parameters	81
6.2.3. Data collection and monitoring technology	83
6.2.4. Threshold value setting for collected sensor signals	84
6.3. Development of a smart control system for quality consistency	86
6.3.1. Failure recognition and control algorithm development	87
6.3.2. System architecture for a smart quality control system	87
6.4. Results & discussion	89
6.4.1. Algorithm for adjusting parameters based on if-then case-based rules	89
6.4.2. Control strategy to avoid failures	90
6.4.3. Implementation of a sensor assisted monitoring system in a real factory environment	91
6.4.4. Installation of cavity sensors in a molding machine	91
6.4.5. Development of interface for data monitoring and quality consistency control module.	93
6.5. Implementation and functionality testing of the developed system	94

6.6. Conclusion and future works	97
Chapter 7 . CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORKS	
7.1. Conclusion	
7.2. Limitations	
7.3. Future works	
Curriculum Vitae	
Publications	
References	
Appendix : Control design and simulation module in LabView	



List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Typical grinding process13
Figure 1.2. Elements of process control loop
Figure 1.3. Data driven smart monitoring and control system
Figure 1.4. Double sided grinding of the brake disc20
Figure 1.5. Autonomous process monitoring and control system
Figure 2.1. Grinding process as the target for the research
Figure 2.2. Brake disc manufacturing introduction
Figure 2.3. Research strategy followed
Figure 2.4. Influencing factors in terms of product quality
Figure 2.5. Effect plot of process parameters for vibration
Figure 2.6. Effect plot of process parameters for surface roughness
Figure 3.1. Monitoring system flow chart
Figure 3.2. Data collection from machine PLC
Figure 3.3. Vibration data collection dashboard
Figure 3.4. Collected data for different product qualities
Figure 3.5. Block diagram for main user interface
Figure 3.6. Block diagram for data collection from Kistler LabAmp
Figure 3.7. Sensor display dashboard
Figure 3.8. User interface for device information
Figure 3.9. Data flow diagram
Figure 3.10. Grinding process vibration signal plot
Figure 3.11. Kinematic diagram of flat grinding model
Figure 4.1. Functional design of the autonomous process control system
Figure 4.2. Structure of the neural network-based predictive control for nonlinear system56

Figure 4.3. Biological brain (Image source: Data Flair)	57
Figure 4.4. Basic neural network structure (Image source: Towards data science)	58
Figure 4.5. ReLU and Logistic sigmoid (Image source: Towards data science)	60
Figure 4.6. Cost function	62
Figure 4.7. Initial AI architecture	64
Figure 4.8. AI model training methodology	66
Figure 4.9. Final AI model for grinding wheel RPM prediction	67
Figure 4.10. Mean absolute error for validation of the model	67
Figure 4.11. Control algorithm	69
Figure 5.1. Implementation of the system at the site	70
Figure 5.2. Installation an an independent software with user ID	71
Figure 5.3. Control room display for the plant manager	72
Figure 5.4. Real factory scenario	74
Figure 5.5. Benefits as before and after scenario	75
Figure 6.1. A developed cyber engineering model for understanding molding behavior	81
Figure 6.2. Influential process parameter selection in terms of quality	82
Figure 6.3. Obtained process window for a good quality product	83
Figure 6.4. Data collection and processing infrastructure	86
Figure 6.5. Control algorithm	88
Figure 6.6. System architecture	89
Figure 6.7. Control strategy to reduce warpage and short shot	90
Figure 6.8. Sensors and its mold assembly	92
Figure 6.9. DAQ and connectors	92
Figure 6.10. Interface display for the quality control system	94
Figure 6.11. Molding machine and the car door trim module	96

Figure 6.12. Im	nplementation of the quality consistency control system	
Figure 6.13. Te	esting the functionality of the system	



List of Tables

Table 1.1. Summary of grinding wheel condition monitoring studies	17
Table 2.1. Experiments for selecting most influencing parameter	33
Table 4.1. Data table for AI model building and training	63
Table 4.2. AI model performance with different number of layers and nodes	55
Table 4.3. Comparative evaluation with different supervised learning algorithm	68
Table 5.1. Process parameter for brake disc grinding	73
Table 6.1. Summary of grinding wheel condition monitoring studies	79
Table 6.2. Collected data from different cyber experiments	85
Table 6.3. Process parameter for the injection molding of the car door	85
Table 6.4. Threshold limits	86
Table 6.5. Product specifications	94

Chapter 1 . GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1. Motivation

The grinding process is one of the most widely used machining processes to manufacture parts with very high precision. It is a precision operation that uses a higher-speed abrasive grinding wheel to remove softer material, as shown in Figure 1.1. Today it accounts for more than 70% of the total precision machining industry [1–4]. Its wide presence can be seen in all industries, whether automotive, aerospace, marine, medical, or the semiconductor industry [5]. Being the last stage of the manufacturing process, it is of utmost importance. The occurrence of any defect or anomaly in it will affect the quality and performance of the end product and ruin all the previous stages and efforts in the manufacturing of the product.



Figure 1.1. Typical grinding process [6].

The process of grinding has been in use since the medieval days. However, for the task of quality check, failure detection, and control actions, there is still a reliance on the operator's skill and knowledge [7]. Until recently, the standard view among many grinding companies has been that the technology is close to its peak and that there is little scope for new or significant technical development [8]. Several researchers have indicated that the failures like burn marks, white chatter layer, and residual stress frequently occur [9]. Quality failures during grinding lead to scrap production that results in a significant economic loss. Rejection costs for a finish-machine gearwheel with a grinding burn can rise to the order of 10,000 euros each as it has been observed that 20-25% of the total cost towards any machining job comes from grinding processes [10]. The conventional approach to dealing with these issues consumes a lot of time and resources. There is a severe need and scope for developing a monitoring and control system for these quality failures. The monitoring of the continuous interaction between the grinding wheel and the workpiece can give important information about the quality failures [11]. Reducing costs by reducing the rejection rate by only 5-10 pieces per year already amortizes costs for data-acquisition hardware for the online process monitoring.

Knowing its importance, researchers have always focused on the know-how of the grinding process. However, monitoring and control of the grinding process is not an easy task. There are certain limitations due to the complexity of the process. Sensor-assisted monitoring combined with an intelligent decision-making system can play a remarkable role in this regard. It has been pointed out that process is the most important among the several quality affecting elements [12]. So, online monitoring of the process parameters and the grinding quality indicators is the need of the hour. There have been many attempts in this regard, but they have been either failure detection using sensors or just the monitoring grinding wheel degradation. Several process parameter optimization techniques have also been used, but they are limited to being applied only in offline mode or in the planning of the process [13].

Therefore, this thesis is oriented towards monitoring the grinding process parameters and vibration and a control system to make changes in the process parameters. In the first section, this thesis gives information about state-of-the-art approaches relating to the sensorbased process monitoring and optimization methods of the process parameters and control systems available. Later the relationship between process parameters and vibration feature will be determined using AI and training model. The final section will present the decision-making system and its validation through the implementation.

1.2. State of the art

1.2.1. Sensor-assisted monitoring systems

In the past, many studies have introduced a force sensor, acoustic sensor, and pressure sensor for monitoring [14]. It was reported that the grinding of thin-walled and honeycombed structured components made up of Hastelloy, undesired burrs are often created: subsequent deburring increases overall manufacturing process time and cost. Subsequent deburring process, like manual deburring with a high-pressure water jet, is required. An electroplated Cubic Boron Nitride (CBN)wheel with a miniature concave and convex surface was developed to develop a high-speed grinding process and grinding strategies to reduce the burr [15–19]. The Design of Experiments (DOE) process parameter was optimized to reduce the occurrence of failures. Monitoring the machining process parameters with a variety of sensors represents a prime setup for reducing poor quality. It hence reduces the cost [11]. The study has researched to correlate the quality of the machined surface after broaching and the output signals obtained from multiple sensors, namely acoustic emission, vibration, and cutting forces. The obtained results indicate that the cutting force signals are sensitive enough to detect the geometrical deviation of the machined profile, burr formation, and to a lesser extent of chatter marks. Time and frequency domain analysis of the output signals can play a crucial role in developing appropriate techniques for qualitative and quantitative evaluation of the machined surface quality. Many research efforts have contributed to monitoring tool conditions of machining processes such as turning, milling, drilling, and broaching [20–28]. The authors give a detailed review of the measurement approaches and sensors for the grinding wheel monitoring [29,30]. A summary of the grinding wheel condition monitoring studies is given in Table 1.1. Although the sensor-based monitoring systems are expensive and limited in implementation, the monitoring of the grinding process with the use of power sensors has also been explored by researchers. Grinding power is recognized as an important indicator for monitoring. The analysis of the grinding process is complicated because the grinding material removing process is full of complexity. No theoretical model can be used to thoroughly explain the grinding process mechanisms nor reveal the correlation between process parameters and the outcome. Works of literature like [31–35] have successfully used a power sensor to characterize the grinding process and the tool performance. Several grinding machine manufacturing companies like Micromatic Inc, India, and others have developed their own power monitoring the different power characteristics at different stages of the grinding. The worn-out grits influence the surface finish of the part, necessitating timely dressing. Conventionally the dressing interval is decided either based on the wheel life end criteria.

Authors in [36] have used a combination of Hall effect sensor, dynamometer, and Camera for the grinding wheel redress life estimation. A time-series auto-regressive moving average (ARMA) predictive model was developed to estimate the grinding wheel redress life using the selected root mean square (RMS) feature on a current signal. The developed android application enabled the user to visualize the dressing time based on the RMS value of the spindle motor current signal. It has allowed the operators and machines with sensors to communicate and facilitate real-time traceability, visibility, and control over the dressing action to perform automatic dressing before the wheel reaches its end of life [37–40]. The catch is that they have used it for an elementary part grinding, and the test setup allowed the assembly of such a system. To implement them, the grinding process must be disturbed. Several non-

destructive testing (NDT) methods have been so far proposed for the in-process monitoring of grinding burn, such as direct temperature measurement of the grinding chips [41–43]. Andreas et al. used an optical sensor and miniaturized eddy current sensor for the non-destructive detection of grinding burns [44].

Reference	Tool state(s)	Grinding conditions	Signal	Signal analysis	Features	Test results
Furutani et al.	Wheel loading and dulling	Fixed	Pressure	FFT	Spectral amplitude	NA
Hosokawa et al.	Wheel wear	Varied dressing feed	Sound	Frequency spectrum	Sound pressure level values	80– 100%
Hwang et al.	Wheel wear	Fixed	AE	Power spectral density	RMS of AE signals	NA
Kwak et al.	Wheel loading	Fixed	Force	Wavelet transform	Spectral density	NA
Lezanski	Wheel wear	Three depths of cut	Forces vibration AE	statistical and spectral	8 statistical and spectral features	83.3%
Mokbel et al.	Generated by using different grinding	Fixed	AE	Fast Fourier transform	Spectral amplitude	NA

Table 1.1. Summary of grinding wheel condition monitoring studies [30]

Since the wear of a grinding wheel directly affects the workpiece vibration, both affect the workpiece quality. Vibration during the cutting phase can be used to monitor the wheel condition. In the monitoring of the grinding process, the automatic detection of surface defects is essential. However, the introduced methods are unable to recognize such failures [45,46]. Several investigations have been carried out to relate the vibration characteristics to the failure's exact process behavior and occurrence. Other sensor-based monitoring has its limitations, but the vibration is produced by cyclic variations in the dynamic components of the grinding machine. Damage control due to process failure is of great importance. However, the abovepresented methods have mainly focused on wheel conditions, assuming that the grinding wheel condition affects the product quality most.

Three primary goals of any monitoring system are process monitoring, failure detection, and information sharing to optimize the process [47]. For this purpose, Rodolpho et al. performed the tests on a surface grinding machine, workpiece SAE 1020, and aluminum oxide grinding wheel as the other components. Frequency spectra analysis of obtained signals characterized the phenomenon of burn [48–54]. The ANN model classified the condition of the part as usual and abnormal. Further research is required to monitor the grinding process and failures that occurred during the processing of the work pieces.

1.2.2. Failure prediction and process parameter optimization

With success made in the field of computation power and machine learning, research works have been done to predict the failures during the grinding process. These findings have helped the manufacturers to plan their production setup in a more effective way. Christian et al. Used a machine learning neural network approach to predict grinding burn based on the process parameters to prevent damage [42]. A small dataset of 21 samples was gathered at a specific machine, constantly grinding the same element type with different process parameters, indicating the severity of the grinding burn. As a result of training, the model can predict the severity of grinding burn in multiclass classification, and it turned out that even with little data, the model performed well. In Neto et al., acoustic emission and vibration sensors were used to monitor grinding burn in surface grinding [55]. They trained different models with different frequency bands. It turned out that the best model had two frequency bands for acoustic emission and two frequency bands for vibration signals as input. The work pieces were roughly

analyzed through visual inspection, surface roughness and hardness measurements, and metallographic analyses. The root mean square values filtered in the selected bands for both sensors better fit the linear regression, which is highly desirable for setting a threshold to detect burn and implementing it into a monitoring system.

One of the most critical problems in the grinding process is the automatic detection of surface burn in the parts. The burn occurs during the cutting of the part by the grinding wheel when the amount of energy generated in the contact area produces an increase of temperature enough to produce a change of phase in the material. In general, such occurrence can visually be observed by the bluish temper color on the part surface, but more generally, time-consuming tests are required for its after-the-fact determination. Bai et al. compared feed forward neural networks, least squared support vector machines, deep restricted Boltzmann machines, and stack auto encoders to predict quality in a manufacturing process [56]. Deep learning technology has become a hot topic in AI. It has been proven to be effective in many fields. E.g., fault diagnosis, pattern recognition, and forecasting. It has compared two feature learning patterns to investigate their performance in predicting manufacturing quality, including different learning models [57–60].

Authors in [61] conducted an experimental investigation on the wear properties of AI/SiC MMC and built a traditional ANN-based prediction model. Surface finish is a crucial property for determining material quality. Scientists enounce many kinds of prediction modeling methods and identify suitable parameters for surface roughness [62]. The obtained prediction models are beneficial in enhancing the surface quality in the grinding process of MMC materials because the experts in the field would assume the surface roughness without doing any real experiment and determine the input process parameters and the model results. The study [63] investigates some parameters on the surface roughness of some alloys in the end milling machine. Today machine learning methods are successfully utilized for regression,

classification, or clustering in material sciences [64,65]. There are several methods for the detection of grinding burn on the machined workpiece. He et al. in beforehand prediction and post-mortem detection methods [66] are the two major ones both beforehand prediction methods and after detection methods are feasible. Beforehand prediction methods are relatively rewarding for grinding burn prediction, but they are not 100 percent effective. Combining both methods can be an excellent approach to deal with the monitoring and control of the machining process to make it defect-free. Researchers have mostly focused on the study of the tool wear for the prediction of failure and its optimization. Vibration features coming from the tool and workpiece interaction can also be an important aspect of failure prediction. A tool condition monitoring system is required to decrease the downtime of the machine and replace the cutting tool at the right time. In tool condition monitoring systems, signals like cutting force, sound, vibration, spindle current, surface roughness, temperature, tool images, AE were employed to examine the tool wear [67–70]. An understanding of the relationship between the process parameters and the vibrations in the grinding process is required to design the optimization techniques. Tao Liu et al. did an experimental analysis of process parameter's effects on vibrations in the high speed-grinding [71]. Two types of vibrations can rise in the high-speed grinding of a camshaft. The first type is forced vibrations that originate from the vibration in the grinding depth and the unbalance of the wheel [72], and the second type, known as "chatter," may rise in grinding due to the regenerative and frictional effects of the machine toolworkpiece system. The capacity to minimize vibrations in grinding by the selection of appropriate process parameters is a significant benefit in the process optimization of cam grinding. It was reported that the vibrations and the surface waviness change with the increase of grinding depth, and an appropriate grinding wheel speed combined with a workpiece speed has, for most grinding conditions, a reducing effect on vibration magnitudes and waviness and waviness. An unstable grinding process occurs due to these self-excited vibrations, and results

of grinding wheel wear, unacceptable surface finish, and increased noise would rise [73]. The results demonstrate that the quantization of vibration magnitudes and surface waviness for the different process parameters used in the tests identify the best selection for the process parameters.

Adel et al. presented the effects of process parameters on machining vibration and their optimization [74]. A high vibration leads to poor surface finish and reduced productivity and shortens the tool life; therefore, the parameters should be optimized. The parameters can be optimized using analysis of variance, regression, and optimization techniques to achieve the condition of minimum vibration. Taguchi analysis with L18 orthogonal array was used to optimize the process parameters in consideration of surface roughness and vibration to be minimized [75]. After the collection of the vibration data as an MS Excel file through LabVIEW, the Taguchi method was used to minimize the vibration and chatter, to improve the quality of the product [76]. The authors also showed the effectiveness of the developed inprocess portable diagnostic system with case studies. The portability and non-intrusive nature of the diagnostic tool enabled the application of the diagnostic system in different machines and assisted in enhancing the optimum utility of the machine's capability. With consideration of three parameters (Grinding wheel speed, table speed, and depth of cut), a Response surface methodology (RSM) was applied to determine the optimum machining parameters leading to minimum surface roughness and maximum material removal rate [77]. The results showed a match in the experimental values and the predicted values remarkably. The error between experimental and predicted values at the optimal combination of parameter settings for material removal rate and surface roughness came around 4%. An integrated RSM and Taguchi methodology to determine the optimum process parameters for minimum surface roughness and vibration produces promising results [78]. They used the S/N ratio from the Taguchi method to measure the variance of wheel vibration and surface roughness. The statistical

analysis demonstrated that the depth of cut and wheel revolution is the dominant parameter among the controllable factors that influence the vibration features coming from the grinding process [79–81].

Irrespective of having promising results in terms of optimization of process parameters in consideration of minimizing the vibration level, these optimization methods can be applied in the offline mode only and can help in getting initial process parameters for the experiment. These methods ignore the fact that the grinding process is a vital factor that incurs the disturbance and results in quality failures.

1.2.3. Process control

The grinding process is transient. Research has not done enough contributed to industrial needs to predict the process behavior. The relationship between input and output parameters in the manufacturing process can fulfill the need for control. Accurate modeling of the grinding process to predict the resulting output quality is extremely difficult considering that abrasive processes are complex non-stationary in nature, and have a large number of parameters [29]. The ultimate goal of the process monitoring is a component that matches the specified quality, machined in a minimal time that characterizes parameters of the process as well as of the component must be checked. The author categorized the decision-making for the control system in two approaches: a) compare the distinctive values of the processed signals to a predetermined threshold in order to identify the status of the process. The database must be prepared in advance. b) another approach for decision making is model-based identification by employing several kinds of physical and empirical models to identify the interrelationships between detected and controllable parameters. A physical model is developed from an understanding of the fundamental physical principles underlying the process, with the specific objective in mind. The different elements of the process monitoring include Sensor, Signal processing, Interpretation, Output, Diagnosis, and Therapy, as shown in Figure 1.2. Sensor application is made at a lower level according to the hierarchy of control loops, and it can still be regarded as an essential part of a so-called intelligent system. Karpuschewski et al. showed the field of sensor application in intelligent grinding systems. It is composed of the application of AI techniques such as knowledge-based systems, neural networks, or fuzzy logic [29]. The measured and processed sensor data are transmitted to succeeding modules such as control modules.



Figure 1.2. Elements of process control loop [82]

Considering the complex production technique and many influencing factors, Jie et al. introduced integrated modeling and intelligent control methods of the grinding process [83]. Case-based reasoning (CBR) and PID decoupling controller can be used to optimize the process simultaneously. Because of the limitations of the industrial field conditions and a lack of mature detectors, the internal parameters of the grinding process is challenging to obtain real-time quality closed-loop control. Scholars have proposed several neural networks and case-based reasoning technology for this purpose [84,85]. Combining the actual working conditions of the

grinding classification process, an RBFNN based particle size soft-sensor model is also in use for ore grinding. From the automation and control domain, many model-driven methods have been proposed for automatic set points of the grinding process [86–89]. However, it is hard to achieve these goals at the level of basic feedback and model-based control. To overcome this issue, a data-driven grinding control using reinforcement learning was proposed by Li Guo [90]. Through this, it is not necessary to construct a system process model as it can learn from the historical processes. However, to apply this kind of method, a simulator platform needs to simulate thousands of iterations to reach the optimum process control.

1.2.4. Limitations and research goal

Originally the process monitoring and control was dependent on the operator's gut feel or specialized expertise. However, through research, it has come a long way, and now we can monitor the process using sensors and apply process parameter optimizations. Although several systems using vibration characteristics to detect quality failures have been explored, there is still a lot of scope for further development regarding its reliability and implementation. Most of the available systems collect the data from the process with the help of sensors and later use it for analysis of the process failure and machine component life estimation. These findings are helpful in better planning of the manufacturing, but not in real-time control of the failures to achieve quality consistency. The research findings are either theoretical or have been trying for a very simple part. There is still a lot to do in the direction of implementing a system for realtime monitoring and control of the grinding process.

To overcome the limitations of the introduced research findings, this thesis presents the development of an intelligent grinding process monitoring and control using vibration sensors. The intent is to bring the science of grinding actively for shop floor manufacturing with the help of microscopic interactions taking place during grinding, further integrating it with data analytics. Vibration signals coming from the sensors can be utilized for the monitoring of the

grinding process, and from the collected data, a robust AI model can be built that can provide the optimum process parameters to control the process failure. Another goal of this thesis is to make the grinding process more autonomous and smart. For that purpose, all the steps should be programmed using a programming language and should be installed at the manufacturing site. Taking one step from the existing research findings, the system to be developed should be able to control the process parameters in real-time. So the closed-loop connection to the controller will also be introduced. A brief goal of this thesis as the desired system is shown in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3. Data driven smart monitoring and control system

The machine learning-based AI techniques were used in this research because the focus is on the double-sided grinding process solving the real quality issue faced by the manufacturers. Modeling such a complex process is difficult to find the relationship between its vibration feature and operating process parameters. A double-sided grinding process, in which both the front and back surface of the workpiece is grinded using a pair of grinding stones provided oppositely at both sides of the workpiece, as shown in Figure 1.4.

At present, the quality inspection of the manufactured brake disc is the operator manually, and if there is any defect, then he changes the process parameter accordingly and check if it has solved the quality issues or not. This method requires a lot of expertise and knowledge and is responsible for the loss of time in the experiment and manpower, resulting in the low productivity of the factory. The desirable system where the monitoring is done with the use of sensors and the process is automatically controlled is shown in Figure 1.5.



Figure 1.4. Double sided grinding of the brake disc



Figure 1.5. Autonomous process monitoring and control system



Chapter 2 . RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

2.1. Research object

As discussed earlier, the goal of this thesis is to develop autonomous monitoring and control of the grinding process. The research object chosen for this study is the manufacturing of the car brake disc with grinding as its last stage. The manufacturing of the brake disc involves several stages, but our focus is on the grinding process, as shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1. Grinding process as the target for the research

Through analysis of the existing manufacturing execution system (MES) in the company suggested that the disturbance that occurred during the machining process is responsible for most of the quality failures in the finished product. The grinding of the automotive brake disc is introduced in Figure 2.2. The complexity of the grinding process involved in attaining the desired surface finish to the brake disc suggests that the monitoring of external sensors along with the process parameters can give better know-how of the process

insight. With the combination of hardware and software, we can make the reference models for the process and train the machine brain for failure detection and its control. Through the combination of signal processing and data analytics, rules can be developed to achieve process intelligence. The literature [47] introduced the importance of vibration characteristics being the most suitable option for reciprocating the process conditions. A vibration sensor-based monitoring system along with AI-based control can serve the multiple purposes of fault detection, scrap reduction, process intelligence, and making the conventional factory into the smart one.



Figure 2.2. Brake disc manufacturing introduction

2.2. Research strategies followed

A comprehensive step-by-step research methodology is given in Figure 2.3. Firstly the real quality defects in the industry are analyzed. The current grinding process, as well as the machine behavior, is analyzed. The continuous interaction between the two grinding wheels and the workpiece sometimes becomes a reason for the process failures. Based on the failure types, influencing factors are selected. Among the materials, machine, operator, and processing, its processing condition, and process parameters affect the quality the most. The influencing process parameters like grinding wheel RPM, workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed, and coolant flow will be monitored throughout the monitoring of the process, as shown in Figure. 2.4.



Figure 2.3. Research strategy followed



Figure 2.4. Influencing factors in terms of product quality

Data from the vibration sensors as well as machine PLC will be collected in order to build a reference model for the grinding process and for the analysis of the grinding process behavior. The collected data will be used to detect the failure in real-time and also to train the AI model for the prediction and calculation of the process parameters for the control of the grinding process.

2.3. Selection of monitoring and control process parameters

A series of experiments have been conducted to evaluate which grinding factors affect the vibration and workpiece surface roughness. Then a literature survey and brainstorming session helped to identify the grinding factors and their levels of the experiments. Finally, we selected four process parameters that can be associated with vibration and surface roughness. The grinding experiments were carried out on the Daisho Seiki GRV 585 series grinding machines. The grinding parameters include grinding wheel RPM, workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed, and coolant flow rate. There are several types of quality characteristics, such as the lower
the better, the higher the better and the nominal the better in the case of vibration and surface roughness that should be a minimum. In this study, therefore, the smaller the better type of the signal to noise (S/N) ratio has been used and is defined as follows:

$$S / N = -10 \log[\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i^2]$$
(2.1)

where n is the number of repeated experiments for each combination of control factors, and y_i is the observed response on the ith trial. The negative sign in equation 2.1 is for showing the smaller the better quality characteristics. The response y, in this case, is the wheel vibration and surface roughness, respectively. Response tables of S/N ratio for vibration and surface roughness are given in Table 2.1 along with their experimentally measured values. The S/N ratio for each level of the factor is computed based on the S/N ratio analysis using equation 2.1. A smaller value of vibration and surface roughness is normally required in metal machining. Therefore, the smaller the better methodology of S/N ratio was employed for the aforesaid responses. Regardless of the category of the performance characteristics, the largest S/N ratio corresponds to better performance. Therefore, the optimal level of the process parameter is the level with the greatest S/N ratio. The influence of each control factor on the vibration and the surface roughness has been analyzed with a signal-to-noise ratio response table. They show how the S/N ratio at each level of the control factors and how it changes when the settings of each control factor are changed from one level to another. The influence of each control factor can be more clearly presented with response graphs (see Figure 2.5 and 2.6) respectively. Taguchi L_{27} orthogonal array analysis is done to find the effects of process parameters on surface roughness and vibration characteristics during the process. The analysis of the response table shows that the grinding wheel RPM is the most influencing factor in terms of surface roughness and vibration. Other process parameters like workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed,

and the coolant flow rate are also important but their effects o the surface roughness and vibration are not that noticeable.

		Param	eter levels					
Exp	A Crinding	B Wheel	С	D	Vibration	Surface roughness	S/N ratio	S/N ratio
. NO	wheel RPM	entry speed	Workpiece RPM	Coolant flow rate	(g)	(R _a)	(g)	(R _a)
1.	750	3	170	30	0.8	1.4	1.971	14.1
2.	750	3	170	30	0.3	1.5	2.655	15.3
3.	750	3	170	30	0.6	1.5	1.985	17.7
4.	750	3	170	30	0.3	1.4	2.563	12.8
5.	750	3	170	30	0.4	1.5	1.652	12.2
6.	750	3	170	30	0.3	1.6	2.325	13.2
7.	750	3	170	30	0.8	1.3	1.568	13.0
8.	750	3	170	30	0.3	1.6	0.749	14.1
9.	750	3	170	30	0.4	1.4	1.568	15.3
10.	800	4	200	40	0.9	1.5	3.17	17.7
11.	800	4	200	40	1.0	1.6	1.12	15.3
12.	800	4	200	40	0.3	1.4	2.50	14.5
13.	800	4	200	40	0.4	1.6	3.33	12.5
14.	800	4	200	40	0.8	1.4	2.698	12.4
15.	800	4	200	40	0.6	1.5	2.376	11.3
16.	800	4	200	40	0.5	1.4	2.423	14.8
17.	800	4	200	40	0.9	1.3	1.986	13.1
18.	800	4	200	40	0.9	1.9	1.905	12.0
19.	850	5	230	50	0.5	2.0	3.64	10.7
20.	850	5	230	50	0.3	1.3	2.721	13.9
21.	850	5	230	50	0.8	2.6	2.376	12.8
22.	850	5	230	50	0.6	1.0	3.630	13.2
23.	850	5	230	50	0.7	1.4	2.241	12.4
24.	850	5	230	50	0.3	1.4	1.986	14.4
25.	850	5	230	50	0.4	1.3	2.698	12.4
26.	850	5	230	50	0.5	2.5	3.12	13.9
27.	850	5	230	50	0.9	1.6	2.412	13.2

Table. 2.1. Experiments for selecting most influencing parameter



Figure 2.5. Effect plot of process parameters for vibration



Figure 2.6. Effect plot of process parameters for surface roughness

Based on the analysis of the experimental results and effects of the process parameters, the vibration from the sensor is selected as the most suitable feature for monitoring and grinding wheel RPM is selected for process parameter control.



3.1. Monitoring system flow chart

The monitoring system flow chart covers the flow of the data from sensors to the analysis display and simultaneously to the database, as shown in Figure 3.1. Two single-axis accelerometers are used for the collection of vibration data from the upper grinding wheel as well as the lower grinding wheel. The accelerometers are fixed at the spindle and normal to the grinding wheel direction using magnetic mountings. The collected data from the acquisition module is transmitted to the personal computer (PC).



Figure 3.1. Monitoring system flow chart

Real-time process parameters monitoring is also essential for informative insight into the disturbance. For this purpose, the variables from the process are delivered to the monitoring system from the programmable logic controller (PLC) through open platform communications (OPC) server connection. It plays a significant role in finding the relationship between the process parameters, failure, and the vibration signal coming from the sensor.

3.2. Data acquisition module

The analysis module for the process behavior monitoring largely depends upon the quality of the data it receives. The data should be reliable and of high quality. Apart from the real-time supply to the system, the acquisition system should also be able to save it in a database. This database can be later used for better manufacturing process planning. The collected data must include the instances of a good product cycle as well as the products incurring failures. A lot of experiments are conducted to build a reference database. It will help in setting threshold limits for the real-time detection of the failures. The data acquisition process for real-time process parameters from the PLC controller of the machine is categorically shown in Figure 3.2. The connection between the PLC and the Microsoft Windows operating system is made through the OPC server and OPC client. When the connection is established, the monitoring tool can receive real-time process parameters for display. The monitored data from the system is also saved in a specified database in comma-separated values (.CSV) format with all the necessary information. Along with the process parameter data, the vibration data is also collected to the database simultaneously. The vibration signal data is collected through the sensor setup and designed tools for the data storage. This data can be recalled at any time for further analysis or reference.



Figure 3.2. Data collection from machine PLC

The vibration data collection system programmed with the LabView software is shown in

Figure 3.3.





3.3. Monitoring threshold setting for failure detection

The Data is the key. It plays an essential role in the determination of threshold limits. Due to the factory production schedule constraints, the data from around 500 product cycles were collected, as shown in Figure 3.4. Machine learning structures are used for the proper training of the system in which the real-time process parameters like grinding wheel RPM, workpiece RPM, feed rate, and the coolant flow rate are given as input, and the g (amplitude) feature for the vibration is selected as the output. Through this, we select a trend or pattern of vibration features for different process conditions. Once the failure setting values is decided, an algorithm is formulated that can detect the occurrence of such instances and trigger an alarm to notify the user about the process failure. For the reliability of the collected data and training system, the quality feedback for each part is also collected. This data is used in offline mode for training the model and finding a pattern in vibration variation related to the change in process parameters. Further research and collection of data from multiple machines will be helpful in building an empirical relation between the process parameter and the vibration signal from the process.

Cycle no	Vibration signal (g)	Wheel RPM	Workpiece RPM	Wheel en speed	try Coo flo	lant w	Product stand	quality ard			
Product cycle 1	0.3	850	239	3	3	0	1				
Product cycle 2	0.2	830	230	2	3	0	1	•			
Product cycle 3	0.3	0		Vibration	Wheel	V	Vorkpiece	Wheel entry	Coolant	Product quality	
Product cycle 18	0.7		Cycle no		RPM		RPM	speed	flow	standard	
Product cycle 30	0.3	Product cycle 200		1	700		230	2.5	30	1 🔍	
Product cycle 34	0.9	Product	t cycle 234	0.3	830		140	2.8	30	1 🔍	
Product cycle 56	1	- Product	t cycle 247	0.2	850		220	2.7	30	1 🔵	
Product cycle 67	0.3	- Product	t cycle 280	0.8	700		230	2.5	30	0 🔴	
Product cycle 80	0.2	Product cycle 300		0.2	840		170	2.5	30	1 🔍	
Product cycle 150	0.8	- Product	t cycle 340	0.3	820		200	3	30	0 🔘	
Product cycle 190	0.0	- Product	t cycle 368	0.4	780		190	2.7	30	0 🔴	
	0.2	Product	t cycle 379	0.6	710		230	3	30	1 🔴	
Product cycle 200	0.3	Product	t cycle 390	0.8	700	1	160	3	30	1 🔵	
		Product	cycle 400	0.2	850	+	150	2.7	30	0 •	
		Product	t cycle 420	0.3	850	1	230	3	30	1 🔘	
		Product	t cycle 500	0.8	750		225	3	22	1 🔴	

Figure 3.4. Collected data for different product qualities

3.4. User interface design for signal display

All the device connections and the software modules are designed and programmed using LabView design software (National Instrument, USA). The developed software has multiple modules and devices. So, state machine architecture in the LabView is used for the programming. It is beneficial in the implementation of complex algorithms and tasks. A block diagram related to the monitoring tool development is shown in Figure 3.5. In the block diagram for the main user interface, there are separate functions for initializing the system, connection to the data acquisition (DAQ), logging the data, and disconnecting the device. The system saves the data simultaneously in a database. Figure 3.6 illustrates the connection of the monitoring system to the DAQ and data acquisition according to the chosen sampling rate. A dedicated user interface (UI) for the process monitoring as a system is also developed, as shown in Figures 3.7 and 3.8. It has separate buttons of 'start' and 'stop' to control the monitoring behavior. It consists of three different windows of device configuration, sensor signal display, and fast Fourier transform (FFT) display.



Figure 3.5. Block diagram for main user interface



Figure 3.6. Block diagram for data collection from Kistler LabAmp

ower Spindle	+ 🤉 🗶	Upper Spindle	+ 🤉 😃
5- 4- 3- 2- 1- - 0- - 1- - 2- - -3- - -3- - -5- - -6- -	Reference Value Lover Spindle Outliers , Upper Limit Lower Limit	7- 6- 5- 4- 3- (5)- 5- 1- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Reference Value / Upper Spindie / Outliers / Lower Limit /
Time(s) Status Smart Control ior 1 Sensor 2 Machine Status t CK Not CK Not CK	Three ensor 1 Sensor 2 Jpper Refe 0 + Window Size Peal	shold Settings Hence Value Lower 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 +	Vorkpice Speed Coolant F



& Senso	r Configuration	Sensor Data	Display and Processi	ng FFT Disp	olay				
ddress		Deat		-+ 10				Device Info	
169.254.	179.64	6789	1	÷				Туре	
								Description	
mpling	Rate(Hz)	Channel Sel	ection					Device Name	
100 Channel 1								SW Version	
								Platform Version	
annel S	ettings		Low Pass File	r		Hign Pass Filer		Bootloader Version	
	Name			Eng			Enabled	FPGA Version	
	Туре (Charge 🔍		Ena	bied	Cutoff Freq	0.1	HW Version	
			Cutoff Freq	10				Serial Number	
Sensitiv	rity Unit				-	Notch Filter			
Se	nsitivity	0	Order	2	~		Enabled	LabAmp 51	55A Parameter Name
Day	an Unit					Center Freq	10		~
Nai	ige offic		Filer Type	Butterwor	th 🗸			Value	
	Range	0				Quality Factor	10	Voide	
t Log						Арр	ly Settings	Get	Set
0	Time	Туре	Level	Code	Message			DAQ Stream St	atus Measurement Statu
								Stream status	OFF
								Waiting	
								Frames	
								0	
								v	2
	1								

Figure 3.8. User interface for device information

3.5. Hardware setup and architecture

The hardware setup facilitates the propagation of the requisite signal to the software module. For the collection of vibration signals from the process, several sensors were considered. Two accelerometers of type 8703A50M1, having the sensitivity of 100 and range 50, from Kistler Inc. is used for the data collection. The DAQ system of type 5165A with four input channels from the Kistler is used. The connection from the sensor to the DAQ is made with sensor cables, and the DAQ is connected to the PC with an ethernet cable.

3.6. Application of the monitoring system for different purposes

The developed process monitoring system for the grinding can be easily applied to a grinding machine for multiple purposes. It is an externally applied portable system, which can be used for any grinding machine without affecting its grinding controllers or the assembly.

3.6.1. For building the reference model database

With the use of the monitoring tool, real vibration data depicting the process conditions can be acquired and stored in a database (DB). The monitoring system has the functionality of storing the data. CSV (comma-separated values) format to any connected DB system. Based on these various types of data, a reference model can be built and routinely updated with the occurrence of the failures. In that way, the occurrence of any deviation from the standard can be recognized. For a grinding cycle to be in good shape, the processing conditions in the monitoring system must be under the threshold limits. If any deviation occurs, the alarm and notification to the operator will be flagged and simultaneously logged into the database for the attention of the plant manager. A data flow diagram for the developed monitoring system is shown in Figure 3.9. Through OPC server communication, the PLC can broadcast the real-time process parameters. The created DB has information like process parameters, vibration, and alarm occurrence instances. A typical vibration signal plot for different stages of the grinding is plotted in Figure 3.10. During the machining operation, the vibration occurred during the cutting and roughing phases are most important in a total cycle of 25 seconds. To capture the average vibration during this phase, we have used the windowing function. In order to do that, we select a time range that would capture such repetition and calculate the average value of the 'g' i.e., vibration level.



Figure 3.9. Data flow diagram

3.6.2. Process parameter optimization

Further digital signal processing methods and analysis of the sensor signals can give important insight into the interrelationship between the processing conditions and the product quality. Such additional modules can be added to the developed monitoring system. The effects of the important process parameters like grinding wheel speed, workpiece speed, and feed rate can be directly linked with the RMS feature of the vibration signal. The surface-related quality characteristics are directly related to these. With such optimization techniques, cycle time, as well as the cost of the grinding process, can be optimized, and several control algorithms can be derived. Major surface quality failures can be easily detected from the vibration signal coming from the processing spot. It can also be avoided with the use of the latest AI-based control algorithms. If not an in real-time cycle, then at least in the next cycle. In this way, we can reduce the number of scrap parts produced.



Figure 3.10. Grinding process vibration signal plot

3.6.3. Grinding wheel and machine component life analysis

The grinding wheel is composed of abrasive grates that go through continuous wear. The changes in the properties of the grain affect the product quality. Its continuous monitoring can also be done by setting the threshold limits for its vibration features and based on that, and the dressing schedule can be fixed for the grinding wheel. Other components going through continuous wear and fatigue may fail to include the workpiece's bearings or the grinding wheel spindle. A detailed study of the collected data can be used to monitor the machine components like bearings. The developed monitoring system can be used for multiple kinds of tasks with slight modifications. Despite its multipurpose use, our advocated piece of work is focused on monitoring real-time behavior of the grinding process and notification to the user when any process failure occurs and storage of the data with the information of such instances.

3.6.4. For process monitoring and control in terms of autonomous beahvior

It's critical to understand that leveraging data is the foundation of a smart factory. Before to the fourth industrial revolution, commonly known as Industry 4.o, manufacturers relied on clipboards and manual methods to collect machine data, perform root-cause analysis or gain insight into their operations. But as the competitive landscape of manufacturing changed, along with advancements in technologies such as the Internet of Things (IoT) and big data, the industry has reached a point where manual processes are no longer efficient. In fact, they cost manufacturers time and money in the form of lost productivity, suboptimal machine output, and product [91]. An organization that has yet to implement IoT technologies either does not have data available or their data is extremely difficult to analyze and turn into insights. There are four levels of autonomous behavior in a smart factory in terms of monitoring and control of the manufacturing processes.

Level One: At the first level of the smart behavior the data connection and information gathering system is designed. It continuously gathers and tracks the production data. With the data in one location and always available, problem-solving becomes almost frictionless. When an issue occurs, operators and engineers can access the data in the system using data visualizations and dashboards. With easy access to all the data, engineers are able to answer questions quickly increasing plant productivity and agility that can weather changing environments. In addition, a connected data infrastructure enables real-time monitoring, as well as monitoring, of the factory floor. There are several state-of-the-art sensor-assisted data collection and monitoring system that satisfies level one of the autonomous behavior as reported in the work of literature [92].

Level Two: Predictive analytics. At this level smart factory shifts manufacturing operations from reactive problem solving to proactive analysis and improvements. Predictive analytics enables operators and engineers to take preventive action to avoid significant downtime or quality failures. By adding machine learning and artificial intelligence, manufacturers can predict and prevent problems on the factory floor. Machine learning technologies typically require three to six months of historical data for accurate predictions. It creates an intelligent system that quickly identifies insights and predicts failures more accurately. Real-time alerts deliver valuable information to the appropriate person allowing them to proactively take action.

Level Three: The third level of autonomous behavior takes production optimization one step further. Instead of predicting when failures might occur, machine learning technologies recommend settings through prescriptive analytics that allows optimization. The optimization recommendations are sent to the engineers who can review the insights and make process changes to maximize throughput without sacrificing product quality. By following the recommended settings, manufacturers can eliminate inefficiencies and waste throughout their production lines as well as increase contribution margins.

Level Four: At this level, AI-based automation deploys the recommendations identified by analyzing manufacturing data. An AI-based model identifies the optimization, then generates and sends the recommended settings in real-time to the machine, where it is automatically executed. In such a closed-loop AI-controlled production line, the time it takes to execute on an insight discovered by the system becomes minimal. Achieving level four requires datasets that are large enough and have enough validated cases to provide the information needed for the system to know the impacts of a production change. There are several literatures available that have tried to achieve autonomous behavior in the process monitoring and control. Research findings by Voronov et al. [93] created a dynamic mathematical model of the cylindrical grinding process as shown in Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.11. Kinematic diagram of flat grinding model

The grinding process is simulated as a dynamic system with two orthogonal degrees of freedom. By doing so, they were able to evaluate the effect of cutting forces and vibrations on the surface to be formed while grinding. It can be very helpful in the design phase of the grinding technological process. Mathematical models, as well as the sensor-assisted monitoring system are able to achieve level two of autonomous behavior. AI-based prediction methods for the recognition of the failures are able to predict the failure and control actions can be taken manually. This makes the available findings being able to achieve level three of the autonomous behavior. Whereas the goal of our research is to not only monitor but the system should be able to deliver the suggested control actions in an autonomous way. Hence the developed system should enable the process behavior to be of level four standard described by the literatures.

Chapter 4 . AUTONOMOUS CONTROL SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT

4.1. Functional design of the autonomous control system

Not many examples of grinding process control devoted to vibration-based process control can be found in the specific literature. The designed control system has two basic functions: the recognition of machining situations and making smart decisions after finding the new process parameters for its compensation. The main aim of the process controller is to improve the performance of a grinding process and the quality of the machined parts, avoiding the limitations caused by the abnormal vibration feature behavior. The autonomous control system feeds indications to the control module to allow a decision-making process and trigger the consequent control actions in terms of cutting parameters or suggested actions. The control module produces both direct commands for the machine to realize an automatic closed-loop process control by process parameters tuning mainly the grinding wheel RPM in a way that is compatible with the machine and the technological constraints. In case when the failure is going to occur can't be controlled, the control system notifies the machine operator of the product being a scrap part [94]. The functional design of the desired autonomous control system is shown in Figure. 4.1.

The vibration error signal coming from the monitoring system is given as input to this control system and it acts autonomously to decide new process parameters. In the past, many predictive controls have been in use. Finding the interrelationship between the process status indicators i.e. vibration signal error and the process parameters to control it is really a difficult task and a core part of the autonomous control system. The complexity of the grinding process of the brake disc by double-sided grinding makes it more challenging to treat it as a model. Finding the interrelationship between indicator and process parameters through pattern recognition can be very helpful to solve this issue. Artificial neural networks can play a key role in finding the process parameters values to give to the machine controller.



Figure 4.1. Functional design of the autonomous process control system

ANN provides a powerful tool for modeling and controlling nonlinear systems and has been widely used in many fields. Since the 1980s, the application of neural networks in the control field has rapidly developed, and several survey papers appeared in which the neural network predictive control is also a typical example for neural network applications [95]. The applications of neural networks in predictive control include modeling for nonlinear systems and optimization solving using neural networks. In the relevant literature, it is usual to adopt a neural network for modeling and then realize the predictive control in two different ways. One is directly using a neural network to solve the rolling optimization problem. The other is first to identify the dynamic system response by a neural network model and then to solve the online rolling optimization using the parametric optimization method [96].

Assume that the input-output model of a nonlinear system can be represented by

$$y(k) = f((k-1), \dots, u(k-n_b), y(k-1), \dots, y(k-n_a))$$
(4.1)

For neural network modeling, this specific representation (4.1) is unknown and only the input and output sample data are available. Consider the commonly used back propagation (BP) network with one layer of hidden nodes layer. It is composed of three layers of nodes, i.e., the input node layer, the hidden node layer, and the output node layer. The nonlinear transformation is considered only in the hidden node layer. Denote the output of the input node $aso_j, j = 1, ..., n_a + n_b \triangleq n_t$. They are indeed the variables in the bracket on the right side of (4.1). Denote the input of the hidden node *i* as x_i and its output as $z_i, i = 1, ..., m, z$, where *m* is the number of hidden nodes. Denote the output of the output node $as\hat{y}(k)$. According to the working principle of the BP network, it follows that

$$x_{i} = w_{i0} + \sum_{j=1}^{n_{t}} w_{ij} o_{j}, i = 1, ..., m$$

$$z_{i} = \varphi(x_{i}), i = 1, ...m$$

$$\hat{y}(k) = w_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} w_{i} z_{i}$$
(4.2)

Where w_{ij} is the weighting coefficient of connection from the input node *j* to the hidden node *i*, w_{i0} is the input bias of the hidden node *i*, w_i is the weighting coefficient of connection from the hidden node *i* to output node, w_0 is the input bias of the output node, and $\varphi(.)$ is the active function of the neuron, usually taken as the Sigmoid function

$$\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{1+e^{-x}} \tag{4.3}$$

The task of neural network modeling is to determine the weighting coefficients and the input biases best matched with the given sample data set, which can be described as the following optimization problem:

$$\min_{w} E = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{N} (\hat{y}_{l}(w) - y_{l})^{2}$$
(4.4)

Where N is the number of samples y_l and \hat{y}_l represents, respectively, the system output in the *l*th group of samples and the neural network output calculated by (4.1) of this sample, and w is a parameter vector containing all the weighting coefficients and input biases.

The weighting coefficients of the BP network can be obtained as follows, Let

$$E_{l} = \frac{1}{2} (\hat{y}_{l}(w) - y_{l})^{2}, e_{l} = \hat{y}_{l}(w) - y_{l}, l = 1, \dots, N$$

$$\delta_{i} = \frac{\partial E_{l}}{\partial z_{i}} = \frac{\partial E_{l}}{\partial \hat{y}_{l}} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_{l}}{\partial z_{i}} = e_{l} w_{i}, i = 1, \dots, m, l = 1, \dots, N$$

$$\xi_{i} = \frac{\partial E_{l}}{\partial z_{i}} = \frac{\partial E_{l}}{\partial z_{i}} \frac{dz_{i}}{dx_{i}} = \delta_{i} \dot{\phi}(x_{i}) = \delta_{i} z_{i} (1 - z_{i}), i = 1, \dots, m$$

$$(4.5)$$

Then

$$\frac{\partial E_l}{\partial w_0} = \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial \hat{y}_l} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_l}{\partial w_0} = e_l, \quad \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial w_i} = \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial \hat{y}_l} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_l}{\partial w_i} = e_l z_i$$

$$\frac{\partial E_l}{\partial w_{i0}} = \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial x_i}{\partial w_{i0}} = \xi_i, \quad \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial w_{ij}} = \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial x_i}{\partial w_{ij}} = \xi_i o_j$$

$$l = 1, \dots, N, \quad i = 1, \dots, m, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_t$$
(4.6)

After setting the initial parameter vector w for each sample, the network output \hat{y}_l can be calculated by (4.1) for input o_j and compared with the actual output y_l to construct the error e_l ; starting from the output side, use the back propagation of error e_l to calculate δ_i , ξ_i using (4.4) and the partial derivative of E_l to w (w refers to any network parameter in w) using (4.5). Then construct

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial w} = \sum_{l=1}^{N} \frac{\partial E_l}{\partial w}$$
(4.8)

Based on which the network parameters are improved by the gradient method

$$w^{new} = w^{old} - \eta \frac{\partial E}{\partial w} \tag{4.9}$$

This process is repeated until the performance index (4.3) reaches the minimum. Then the obtained BP network is the best match to the sample data set. It implicitly established the nonlinear mapping between historical data and the current output, which can be directly used to one-step output prediction when the current control input is given.

However, in predictive control, the above neural network needs to be improved for a multistep prediction. The simplest way is to establish *P* simple BP networks, as above when the prediction horizon is *P*, where the output of the *s*th BP network is the system output $\hat{y}(k + s)$ predicted at k, s = 1, ..., P.

$$\hat{y}(k+s) = G_s(y(k), \dots, y(k-n+1), u(k+s-1), \dots, u(k), \dots, u(k-n+1)$$
(4.9)

Thus, the *s*th BP network should approximate the nonlinear mapping $G_s(.)$ from the input/output information available at time *k* and the future control inputs to $\hat{y}(k + s)$. Refer to (4.1) and consider the control horizon *M*<*P*; the *s*th BP network can then be expressed by

$$BP_{s}:, \quad x_{i}^{s} = w_{i0}^{w} + \sum_{j=1}^{n_{1}} w_{ij}^{s} u(k+j-n) + \sum_{l=n_{1}+1}^{n_{2}} w_{il}^{s} y(k+l-n-n_{1})$$
$$n_{1} = n + min(s, M) - 1, \qquad n_{2} = n_{1} + n$$
$$z_{i}^{s} = \varphi(x_{i}^{s})$$

$$\hat{y}(k+s) = w_0^s + \sum_{i=1}^m w_i^s z_i^s, \qquad s = 1, \dots, P$$
(4.10)

These BP networks work using the same principle and the whole network outputs can reflect the predicted future outputs at different times over the prediction horizon. Since both the learning process and the real-time prediction of these BP networks can be made in parallel, it is a practical and efficient way for multistep prediction for nonlinear systems.

After establishing the neural network model for the nonlinear system, we now discuss the predictive control method based on that. Predictive control runs in a rolling style, i.e., at each sampling time, the control action is obtained by online solving a nonlinear optimization problem. In addition to output prediction, the neural network model established above can also be used for online optimization, which can be solved by the same gradient optimization process as that in model parameter identification. At the sampling time k, let optimization performance index j(k) have the form

$$\min j(k) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{s=1}^{P} (\hat{y}(k+s) - y_r(k+s))^2$$
(4.11)

Where $\hat{y}(k + s)(s = 1, ..., P)$ the outputs of the basic BP prediction models are when future inputs are u(k + h - 1)(h = 1, ..., M), $y_r(k + s)(s = 1, ..., P)$ the desired outputs. Note that

$$\frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial u(k+h-1)} = \sum_{s=1}^{P} \left\{ \frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial \hat{y}(k+s)} \frac{\partial \hat{y}(k+s)}{\partial u(k+h-1)} \right\}$$

And it is known from (4.8) that $\hat{y}(k + s)$ is not related to u(k + h - 1) when h > s, so the above equation can be rewritten into

$$\frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial u(k+h-1)} = \sum_{s=h}^{P} \frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial \hat{y}(k+s)} \frac{\partial \hat{y}(k+s)}{\partial u(k+h-1)}$$
(4.12)

Where

$$\frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial u(k+h-1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial \hat{y}(k+s)}{\partial z_i^s} \frac{dz_i^s}{dx_i^s} \frac{\partial x_i^s}{\partial u(k+h-1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} w_i^s z_i^s (1-z_i^s) w_{i,h+n-1}^s$$

Furthermore, according to the performance index (4.10), it follows that

$$\frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial \hat{y}(k+s)} = \hat{y}(k+s) - y_r(k+s), \qquad s = 1, \dots, P$$

Then the gradient can be given by

$$\frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial u(k+h-1)} = \sum_{s=h}^{P} \{ (\hat{y}(k+s) - y_r(k+s)) \sum_{i=1}^{m} w_i^s z_i^s (1-z_i^s) w_{i,h+n-1}^s \}$$
(4.13)

Therefore, one can initially set a group of controls $u_M(k)$, calculate $\tilde{y}_{PM}(k)$ using the model (4.9), and then substitute it into the performance index (8.40) to calculate $\hat{y} - y_r \text{ in } J(k)$. Based on that premise, the control can be improved by the gradient method

$$u^{new}(k+h-1) = u^{old}(k+h-1) - \alpha \frac{\partial J(k)}{\partial u(k+h-1)}, \qquad h = 1, \dots, M$$
(4.14)

Where α the step length and the gradient is can be calculated by (4.12). This iteration process should be repeated until J(k) it reaches a minimum. Then u(k) as the current optimal control can act for the system for control.

The predictive control algorithm with neural network modeling and online optimization can be described by the internal model control (IMC) structure shown in Figure 4.3, where M_{NN} is the one-step neural network prediction model. It only provides the predicted model output at the next sampling time in terms of current control and (4.9) and constructs the output error using the actual measured output to make a feedback correction. The core part in the figure is the neural network, an online optimization controller C_{NN} . It uses the neural network prediction model (4.9) and the optimization algorithm (4.13), (4.14) to iteratively calculate the optimal control and then implements the current control, where the weighting coefficients of the model (4.10) have been obtained through off-line learning.

The presented algorithm is only a fundamental one of the neural network based on predictive control algorithms. There are a large variety of methods both for neural network modeling and for predictive control based on the neural network model: for example, using the Hopfield network model, considering a general nonlinear performance index instead of a quadratic one, putting constraints on the system input and output, identifying step response coefficients after establishing the neural network model and then using traditional predictive control algorithm, and so on.



Figure 4.2. Structure of the neural network-based predictive control for nonlinear system

Therefore, we have chosen AI and ANN for our future course of action to solve the problem of autonomous control for the grinding process because it is a way to make machines think and behave intelligently. The grinding machine is controlled by software inside them, so AI has a lot to do with intelligent software programs that control these machines. In the coming parts of this chapter, the basic principle of ANN, the data processing for it, components of ANN, training methodology, testing, validation, and control algorithm generation will be introduced.

4.2. AI model architecture

ANN are computing systems inspired by the biological neural networks that constitute animal brains [97]. An ANN is based on a collection of connected units or nodes called artificial neurons, which loosely model the neurons in a biological brain, also shown in Figure 4.3. The basic neural network structure is shown in Figure 4.4. It has input neurons, output neurons, and hidden layers.



Figure 4.3. Biological brain (Image source: Data Flair)



Figure 4.4. Basic neural network structure (*Image source: Towards data science*)

An artificial neuron receives a signal, then processes it and can signal to other neurons. The signal at a connection is a real number, and the output of each neuron is computed by some non-linear function of the sum of its inputs. The connection is called edges. Neurons and edges typically have a weight that adjusts as learning proceeds. The weight increases or decreases the strength of the signal at a connection. Neurons may have a threshold such that a signal is sent only if the aggregate signal crosses that threshold. Different layers may perform different transformations on their inputs. Signals travel from the first layer to the last layer (the output layer), possibly after multiple layers traversing.

Deciding the number of neurons in the hidden layers is significant in determining the overall network architecture. Though these layers do not directly interact with the external environment, they greatly influence the final output. Using a too thin network will result in underfitting. It occurs when there are too few neurons in the hidden layers to detect the signal

on a complicated data set adequately. Similarly, using a too thick system can result in overfitting. Overfitting happens when the network has too much information processing capacity that the limited amount of information contained on the training set is not enough to train all the neurons in the hidden layers. Moreover, a large network can increase the time to train the network. There are many methods of determining the suitable number of the hidden layers and neurons in the hidden layers. The quantity of neurons in the input layer is equal to the number of features that are the investigating parameters (grinding wheel RPM, workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed, coolant flow rate). The total of neurons in the output layer is equal to the number of analyzed properties that is vibration level error. The number of hidden layers should be set between the size of the input and the size of the output. The number of hidden layers is calculated by:

$$N_h = \frac{N_s}{\left(\alpha(N_i^+ N_o)\right)} \tag{4.14}$$

Where N_i : number of input neurons; N_o : number of output neurons; N_o : number of samples in training data set; α : an arbitrary scaling factor, usually 2-10. With four input nodes and one output node, the maximum hidden unit should not exceed 50 nodes. These are the theoretical aspects of deciding the number of layers in a neural network. However, in practice, it again has no idea how many nodes to use in the single hidden layer for a given problem nor how to learn or set their weights effectively. Further, many counter-examples have been presented of functions that cannot directly be learned via a single one-hidden layer MLP or require an infinite number of nodes [98–107]. Other aspects of a neural network are explained in further sections, followed by the chosen model and its training.

4.3. Activation functions

It is important for a neural network to learn and map between the features and response variables. Their main purpose is to convert an input or set of input signals of a node in a deep network to an output. The output signal uses input in the next layer in the stack. Particularly, in ANN learning, we do the sum of products of inputs (X) and their corresponding weights (W) and apply an activation function (f(x)) to it to get an output of that layer, and then feed it as an input to the next layer. Without an activation function, the network would become a combination of linear functions and would not be able to learn and model other complicated data. Another important property of an activation function is that it should be differentiable in other to compute the gradient of loss for optimizing network parameters that will be presented in the next section.

The Activation Functions can be divided into 2 types: a) Linear activation function and b) Non-linear activation functions. There are some popular activation functions such as sigmoid, tanh, and ReLU (Rectified Linear Units). The ReLU activation function is shown in Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.5. ReLU and Logistic sigmoid (Image source: Towards data science)

The ReLU function is :

$$f(x) = \max(0, x) \tag{4.15}$$

The derivative of ReLU function is given as 1 for x > 0 or for x < 0. Therefore, the ReLU has a constant zero gradient wherever a unit is inactive. The sigmoid activation function is traditionally a very popular activation function for neural networks. The input to the function is transformed into a value between 0.0 and 1.0. Inputs that are much larger than 1.0 are transformed into the value 1.0. Similarly, values much smaller than 0.0 are snapped to 0.0. The shape of the function for all possible inputs is an S-shape from zero through 0.5 to 1.0 [104,105,107,108]. The sigmoid function was applied in the output layer only. The sigmoid function is:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-x}}$$
(4.16)

4.4. Cost function

While training a neural network, the cost function or the loss function is used. A cost function is the measure of error between what value the model predicts and what the value is, as shown in Figure 4.6. The basic consideration of information on the training process is the evaluation of the loss function. The goal of the training is to find weights and biases that minimize the cost function. In this thesis, for an easier process in the training step that uses a gradient, the cost function uses the mean square error (MSE). For the validation step of the mean absolute error (MAE) is used.



Figure 4.6. Cost function [109]

4.5. Data preprocessing for model

The goal of this thesis as explained earlier, is to predict the change in the process parameter, especially the grinding wheel RPM. Grinding wheel RPM is the most important process parameter that affects the vibration coming from the process, as findings recorded by the authors in different works of literature [110–113]. To control the process parameters, we have also focussed on grinding wheel RPM. To train the model for the grinding wheel RPM, the dataset with grinding wheel RPM, workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed, coolant flow rate, and the vibration error from each cycle has been prepared from the monitoring system collected data. The dataset used for the building and training of the AI model is shown in Table 4.1. Through experiments, we have collected the data for 200 cycles and with the use of oversampling, it has been made the dataset of 500 cycles. The recorded vibration error of more than 1.0 is considered as the cycle during which the failure has happened.

Cycle No.	Grinding wheel RPM	Workpiece RPM	Wheel entry speed	Coolant flow rate	Vibration error
1	740	200	3	40	1.0
5	800	180	4	30	0.5
9	612	200	3	30	1.35
11	918	230	5	40	1.44
33	850	180	5	50	0.5
55	840	200	4	30	-0.5
67	750	180	3	40	0.9
200	800	200	3	30	0

Table. 4.1. Data table for AI model building and training

4.6. AI modeling and its training

For the autonomous control of the grinding process grinding wheel RPM must be optimized. For that purpose, the ANN model is built as vibration error signal coming from the sensor, workpiece RPM, wheel entry speed, and coolant flow rate as the input and the grinding wheel RPM as the output. The ANN model is used to predict the grinding wheel RPM for the process and then a control action suggests the changes after its comparison with the reference value of the grinding wheel RPM. The selected ANN is a feed-forward neural network. Initially, as per the calculation of the number of hidden nodes stated, we selected three hidden layers with sixteen nodes at each layer.



Figure 4.7. Initial AI architecture

The goal of the feedforward neural network is to approximate some function f for a classifier y=f(x). It maps input x to a category y [114]. Output grinding wheel RPM, we have to predict based on other input process parameters. Once we are able to predict the grinding wheel RPM, then we can control it by comparing it with the reference grinding wheel RPM. The AI model for the prediction of the grinding wheel RPM is shown in Figure 4.7. The number of hidden layers is two.

4.6.1. Supervised learning

Supervised machine learning is the machine learning task that maps an input to an output based on example input-output pairs. Training is about minimizing the cost function by changing the value of w, and b parameters. The training process aims to learn a function $f:x \rightarrow y$, from a given dataset { Xi, Yi, i = 1, ... N }, where Xi \in X, and Yi \in Y. The process adjusts network parameters by direct comparison between the model output and desired output. It infers a function from labeled training data consisting of set training examples. Supervised

machine learning algorithms uncover insights, patterns, and relationships from a labeled training dataset that already contains a known value of the target variable for each record. In industries especially where the practical implementation of the model is required primarily supervised machine learning is used. The backpropagation algorithm is a supervised learning method for multilayer feedforward networks from Artificial Neural Networks.

The principle of the back propagation approach is to model a given function by modifying the internal weightings of input signals to produce an expected output signal. The system is trained using a supervised learning method, where the error between the system's output and a known expected output is presented to the system and used to modify its internal state. The performance of the different layered AI model is shown in Table 4.2.

No. of hidden layers	Hidden layer size (neurons)	Mean absolute error (MAE)	Accuracy
1	4	.432	78 %
2	8-4	0125	82 %
3	8-4-8	.001	98.1 %
3	16-16-16	.278	93.4 %

Table. 4.2. AI model performance with different number of layers and nodes

Technically, the back propagation algorithm is a method for training the weights in a multilayer feed-forward neural network. As such, it requires a network structure to be defined of one or more layers where one layer is fully connected to the next layer. To solve our machine learning problem, we have used the regression model. It is a subfield of supervised learning. It aims to model the relationship between a certain number of features and a continuous target variable [115]. Out of the collected datasets, 80% of the data we are using to train the model

and 20% of the data we are using to test the ANN model. The steps for the training of the model with supervised learning are shown in Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.8. AI model training methodology

The ANN model has been implemented using open-source Python programming language available on the internet. The final structure of the ANN model consists of three hidden layers with nodes as 8-4-8 as shown in Figure 4.9. The model validation is shown in Figure 4.10. From the figure, it is clear that the model is good for use, and with more availability

of the data, it can be made more suitable for use. The comparative evaluation of the ANNbased training model is done with other supervised learning algorithms like KNN, SVM, and Random forest methods as shown in Table 4.3.



Figure 4.9. Final AI model for grinding wheel RPM prediction



Figure 4.10. Mean absolute error for validation of the model
Algorithm	Working technique	Accuracy
KNN	Neighbour based	79 %
SVM	Kernel based	73.5 %
Random forest	Ensemble based	82 %
ANN	Neural network	98 %

Table. 4.3. Comparative evaluation with different supervised learning algorithms

4.7. Control algorithm for process parameter change

After the prediction of the grinding wheel RPM, the next task of this thesis is to calculate the changed grinding wheel RPM that is causing the failure of the process. The control algorithm with AI trained model is shown in Figure 4.11. It can be seen that the monitoring system for the grinding process delivers the vibration error signal from the monitoring display. The trained AI model takes input with the other three process parameters and predicts the grinding wheel RPM. Then the observer programmed in the system compares the predicted grinding wheel RPM with the reference. The controller compensates for the difference in the reference and the predicted value as shown in equation 4.17. Change in the grinding wheel RPM = Predicted RPM – Reference RPM (4.17) The control action command is propagated to the machine controller through the OPC UA

connection.



Figure 4.11. Control algorithm

Chapter 5 . RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1. Implementation of the developed system

The developed intelligent monitoring and control system can be easily applied to a grinding machine for multiple purposes. The developed system is applied to the double-sided vertical type surface grinding machine from Daisho, Japan. The machine is used for the grinding of the automotive brake disc. The developed system is portable. It can be easily installed and relocated from machine to machine. The setting values for monitoring can be changed easily. At first, all the components of the smart system are installed at the real machine at Namyang Nexmo, Korea, as seen in Figure 5.1. The manufacturing of the brake disc consists of several stages. However, our focus is on the stage of the grinding process. The sensors are connected to the developed monitoring system using an ethernet cable. The autonomous monitoring and control system is installed into the industrial PC as it can be seen in Figure 5.2. At the industrial PC, the user can visualize the real-time process behavior. The new process parameter is delivered to the machine controller through the industrial PC.



Figure 5.1. Implementation of the system at the site

The LabView delivers a new grinding wheel RPM to the PLC tag in a control action form. Moreover, the controller adjusts the process parameters accordingly.



Figure 5.2. Installation as an independent software with User ID

5.1.2. Integration to the control room

After the successful testing of the implemented system at the industrial PC, it is integrated with the regular control architecture of the company. The industrial PC is connected to the control room PC through transfer communication/Internet protocol (TCP/IP). The plant manager can observe the process behavior just by sitting in the control room. This process monitoring system can be later used for the rotating component remaining life prediction system also. To use the developed system, the user first opens the software like any other application in the windows operating system by double-clicking it. Then the devices are connected to the application. Once connected, the application displays the real-time sensor signal and simultaneously the FFT graph. Based on the company comparison-based study of the scraps produced due to these surface defects, this system is of great help. When entirely operated automatically, it can bring a dramatic change in the overall productivity of the factory.



Control room

Figure 5.3. Control room display for the plant manager

5.2. Functionality testing of the developed system

5.2.1. Real factory environment testing

The developed software is converted into the application file and installed into the industrial PC at the machine site. The PC does not require to have any external tools like LabView for its functioning. The developed system is tested for the grinding process of the brake disc. The process parameters information for the brake disc is shown in Table 5.1.

No	Process parameters	Values
1.	Clamp pressure	0.5 ~ 1.5 MPa
2.	Grinding wheel RPM	750 - 850
3.	Workpiece RPM	130 - 250
4.	Feed rate	40/30/20 µm/sec
5.	Spark out time	3.0 sec
6.	Coolant oil concentration	4±2%

Table. 5.1. Process parameter for brake disc grinding

When the start button of the system is pressed, the data acquisition from the sensor initiates, and simultaneously the UI window displays the real-time vibration signal behavior. From the collected data and its training, we set the threshold limits for the vibration signal as 0.3. As seen in Figure 5.4, when the vibration amplitude is within the threshold limits, the smart control module does not trigger any alarm or change in process parameters. Demonstration of real-time failure instances at our wish is difficult, so it is demonstrated by altering the threshold limits. In the demonstration scenario, it can be seen that when the vibration amplitude level increases and go beyond threshold limits, the process condition is termed as failure. It is an indication of surface defects like burn marks in the workpiece. Consecutively, the smart control algorithm calculates the difference between the standard and current vibration level and calculates the new process parameters to avoid failure; the new grinding wheel RPM is calculated as 765 and delivered to the machine controller through OPC and PLC connection.



Figure 5.4. Real factory scenario

5.2.2. Benefits to the manufacturer

As seen in Figure 5.5, the new production line of the brake disc manufacturing is integrated with this autonomous process monitoring and control system. This inclusion has helped in shifting the manual product quality evaluation into a more precise and autonomous system. There are several benefits to the manufacturers. The manual quality inspection can be taken care of by the monitoring and control system that can detect and correct the occurring failures. It can successfully reduce the quality failures due to the surface defects that occurred during the grinding process. After consideration of all the involved resources and their application to all available production lines, it can increase productivity by 5 % as stated by the partner company's evaluation.



Figure 5.5. Benefits as before and after scenario

Chapter 6. AI-BASED MONITORING AND SMART CONTROL OF INJECTION MOLDING PROCESS

6.1. Introduction

Injection molding is the most popular cyclic manufacturing technology and is extensively used to produce a variety of industrial products. With the introduction of modern machinery and computer-aided engineering (CAE), product shapes are becoming increasingly complicated. This complexity can result in surface defects and thermal damages. In a complex manufacturing process, there are various factors like machine conditions, product characteristics, process parameters, raw material, and several disturbances that affect the production plan and the final product quality [116]. To compete effectively in the plastics marketplace, manufacturers and researchers have focused on improving product quality by adopting different methodologies. Among the various responsible factors, cooling is a critical and important stage in the molding process to solidify the product, and it directly affects molding quality [117]. During the molding cycle, cooling consumes most of the time. To improve product quality, enhancing cooling performance appears to be a practical option, and the introduction of three-dimensional (3D) printing presents some promising options, including the use of conformal cooling channels instead of conventional cooling channels [118]. The improved cooling channels manufactured with additive manufacturing technology have increased conventional injection molding [119]. Although uneven cooling is a significant factor in quality defects, previous studies have indicated the choice of process and parameters influences quality to a greater degree than machine or mold design [120]. Major quality defects experienced by manufacturers include short shots, flashes, weld lines, and warpage. To remove surface and thermal failures from molded products, several online and offline optimization methods are in use for a long time [121-125]. These methods can reduce the number of experiments and replace the current hit-or-miss method used by operators to determine the optimal settings for a machine and a product. To minimize warpage failure, the Gaussian regression method is applied [126]. Improved computational power and the introduction of CAE for simulation works have helped reduce costs and improve quality while optimizing process parameters. Most process parameter optimization systems such as genetic algorithms, adaptive neuro-fuzzy inference systems, artificial neural networks, back-propagation neural networks, and hybrid methods work offline. Manufacturers use them to find the optimal processing conditions for a particular product [123].

Conventionally machine operator's assistance is needed to conduct experiments and adjust process parameters based on observed quality feedback. A combination of sensors is introduced to overcome such issues, and a model has been developed to collect cavity and nozzle pressure data. After extracting essential data, the same model is used to diagnose the process conditions [127]. Like other cyclic manufacturing processes, various sensor-assisted monitoring and failure diagnosis systems have been applied to injection molding [128]. These approaches have demonstrated relatively good capability, but sophisticated data acquisition (DAQ) techniques, installation problems, and nonlinear relationships among process parameters have limited their use. In addition to that, many self-energized, wireless, and dualsensing techniques are in use to monitor the injection molding process [129]. As modern molding machines can generate large data quantities, the literature [126] recently used a bigdata management approach to identify faults. A structured query language (SQL) database, stored data from every cycle, and python programming are used to develop a fault-prediction model with an accuracy of 57%. Based on the prediction, control measures can be taken by the operator instantly.

Fault diagnosis is a crucial factor in any industry to detect failure and for scheduling maintenance. Researchers have also developed a DAQ system that employed cavity sensors

and analyzed the resulting data for potential faults [130]. Although the performance of the introduced method in terms of injection molding monitoring is reliable, consistent quality in molded products requires more than just a monitoring strategy. The process is still dependent on the skills of the operator and process engineers. The lack of an online feedback system makes it difficult to develop robust monitoring and control techniques. A major portion of the recent research prefers the use of artificial intelligence (AI) technologies to control molding processes as such technologies are better suited to identifying the relationships between measurable and unmeasurable parameters [131]. Park et al. [132] suggested that an AI-based molding process can improve product consistency and quality. Chen et al. [133] assigned injection molding variables to three levels, as shown in Table 6.1.

To reduce level-3variables, a robust monitoring and control model for adaptive control of process parameters is required. Kangalakshmi et al., Schiffers et al. and Wang et al. [134–136] have tried to address quality-related problems by applying model-based proportional-integral-derivative (PID) control, adaptive process control, and phase diagram control, respectively with each achieving some encouraging results. To overcome the complexities of sensor installation, data collection, and difficulties of interrelationship derivation between process parameters and failure, a research object with simple geometry is chosen [137].

Cavity temperature and pressure sensors are used for data collection, and simulations are conducted to validate their models using different tools in all the above-introduced monitoring and control strategy. Although considerable research efforts have been devoted to reducing quality failure rates in injection molding, the application of the developed system is either theoretical or just in simulation models. Furthermore, their practical implementation in industrial applications is still a distant job.

Three-Level Variables in Injection Molding		
Level 1. Machine variables controllable)	(independently	
Temperature		
Barrel temperature (in several zones)		
Nozzle temperature		
Coolant temperature		
Pressure		
Pack/hold pressure		
Back (recovery pressure)		
Maximum injection pressure		
Sequence and Motion		
Injection (ram) speed (constant or profi	led)	
Screw (rotation speed)		
Level 2. Process (dependent) variables		
Melt temperature (in the nozzle, runner,	or mold cavity)	
Melt pressure (in the nozzle and cavity)		
Melt-front advancement		
Maximum shear stress		
Rate of heat dissipation and cooling		
Level 3. Quality definitions (final respo	nse)	
Part weight and part thickness		
Shrinkage and warpage		
Sink marks		
Appearance at weld lines		
Other aesthetic defects: burn marks, surface texture	gate blushes,	

Table 6.1. Summary of grinding wheel condition monitoring studies

The injection-molding process faces quality failures such as sink marks, short shots, warpage, and flashes. Existing solutions such as conformal cooling channels manufactured with 3D printing technology and process parameter optimization systems cannot maintain quality consistency due to variations in process parameters and process instability associated

with the various machines and environmental factors. This results in large quantities of scrap parts, reduction of productivity, and wastages of resources. A more efficient molding process is therefore in high demand.

To overcome the difficulties of current methodologies, this paper introduces a datadriven monitoring and smart quality-control model that can reduce quality failures and increase productivity with the application of an improved monitoring system. The primary goal of the presented research is to develop the smart monitoring and control module and validate it with real industrial experiments. Automation of the injection molding quality control is the secondary goal. Major failure considerations for the study are short shot and warpage.

6.2. Methodology

6.2.1. Generating an analysis model for describing real-world process behavior

In earlier works related to cooling performance optimization for a plastic door module, a CAE tool is used to replicate real-world cooling channels [138]. Constraints of machine design and lack of experiments make it impossible to visualize each step of the injection molding process precisely. So, for a detailed description of the process behavior of the manufacturing of car door trim with injection molding, a cyber-engineering analysis model is developed as shown in Figure 6.1. The geometric modeling of the cooling channels, gates, mold, as well as product is precisely identical to the real counterparts. In different phases of the complete molding process, cooling is the most time-intensive. The developed cyber engineering model also helps in reducing the number of required real-world experiments and associated costs. Additive manufacturing technology is used to manufacture the complex conformal cooling channels used for the door trim module [139]. The detailed study of the cyber model, as well as the real industrial experiments, also provides the same influential factors of injection molding as discussed in the earlier section of the paper. The cyber engineering model system is used to grasp the quality criteria and their influencing factors.

6.2.2. Deriving a relationship between quality failure and process parameters

In terms of selected failures for study, the most influential process parameters among all the quality-related factors are flow rate, packing pressure, hold pressure, packing time, melt temperature, and mold temperature. A description of the process parameter selection process is provided in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.1. A developed cyber engineering model for understanding molding behavior



Figure 6.2. Influential process parameter selection in terms of quality

Observable process parameters are nonlinear, and finding an empirical relationship between the parameters and product quality is challenging. Multiple cyber experiments, each with a different set of initial process parameters, are conducted with CAE tools to consider the occurred failures. Additionally, these simulations are supported by factory experiments with the same set of initial parameters and product quality feedback from the operator. Cycles are labeled as good or bad based on the associated quality of the final product. The same approach is then applied to establish a reference model for temperature and pressure profiles. The format for the experiments and related data with the occurrence of the failures are briefly explained in Table 6.2. This detailed study of the tests is designed to develop a process window for the best quality products. The process window depicts the actual conditions of the manufacturing cycle, as discussed previously [140]. A more precise process window after multiple experiments and quality feedback data for the car door trim case is shown in Figure 6.3. During the product molding cycle, deviation from the depicted process window resulted in quality failure, including short shots and warpage.



Figure 6.3. Obtained process window for a good quality product

Initial optimal settings for the car door trim, based on the physical experiments, virtual model, and the obtained process window, are provided in Table 6.3.

6.2.3. Data collection and monitoring technology

Cyber and real experiments are performed to visualize defects such as warpage and short shots. It is assumed that if we can control the process and the process window is followed every cycle, the product quality will be good. Based on this assumption, there is no need to define each failure. If the temperature and pressure profiles are optimized, then the chances of quality failures are small. Virtual temperature and pressure sensors are assumed in the cyber molding experiments. In addition to the virtual model analysis real data is also collected for its relative validation. The data obtained from cavity sensors are in the form of a time series and imported to a database in the company server as well as a local laptop as comma-separated files. The data collection infrastructure for this research is shown in Figure 6.4. Different sensor setups are used to simulate all possible molding processes. Because of the time-series data, if used directly, it makes process monitoring difficult.

Features like peak, average, maximum, and minimum are extracted from the raw data for the temperature and pressure, respectively. These features reciprocate the process condition of the current and previous cycle.

6.2.4. Threshold value setting for collected sensor signals

In factories, an operator sets the initial process parameters and, during the production, adjusts them according to the quality of the molded part to get a product with the best quality. Instead, the collected datasets are used to determine optimal pressure and temperature profiles for the mold cavity. Based on analysis results and after validation with references, selected threshold limits are chosen as shown in Table 6.4.

Further development of the monitoring system is based on the threshold limits of the features extracted from the raw signal.

Cycle	Flow rate (cm ³ /s)	Coolant temperature	Melt tempera ture	Packing pressure	Packing time	Defle ction	Part weight	Remarks
1	400	15	230	40	3	4.6	814.6	Short shot
2	400	15	240	50	5	4.3	824.4	
3	400	20	230	50	5	3.7	831	
4	400	20	250	40	3	5	810	Short shot
5	450	15	250	40	7	5.6	816.9	Short shot
6	450	20	240	40	5	4.3	813.6	Short shot
7	450	25	230	40	5	4.3	814.2	Short shot
8	450	25	230	50	3	4.5	820.9	
9	450	20	240	40	5	4.4	826	
103	500	25	240	40	5	5.9	824.8	

Table 6.2. Collected data from different cyber experiments

Table 6.3. Process parameter for the injection molding of the car door

Parameters	Setting values
Injection rate	450 g/cm ³
Packing pressure	50% of injection pressure
Packing time	5 sec
Melt temperature	240 °C
Coolant temperature	20 °C



Figure 6.4. Data collection and processing infrastructure

Table 6.4.	Threshold	limits
1 able 0.4.	Threshold	mmus

Profile	Feature	Min	Max
Pressure profile	Peak value of pressure (MPa)	35	40
r ressure prome	reak value of pressure (ivit a)	55	10
	Packing pressure (MPa)	26	30
	Packing time (s)	5.5	7
	Average pressure (MPa)	23	25
Temperature profile	Peak temperature	238	242
	Average temperature	92	96

6.3. Development of a smart control system for quality consistency

In previous sections, the primary focus has been on developing the monitoring system for injection molding. However, monitoring without a control strategy is not a viable method of maintaining quality in the mass production of car door trim modules. Although it is possible to derive a statistical relationship between process parameters and sensor signals, our research is oriented towards solving real problems and their implementation. A case-based control strategy derived from the engineering analysis model and real data is explained in this section of the paper.

6.3.1. Failure recognition and control algorithm development

The monitoring of sensor signal profiles provides a detailed explanation of the occurred failure and corresponding process parameters. A control algorithm to recognize deviations from the process parameters and the standard threshold limit is illustrated in Figure 6.5. It also facilitates the changes in the process parameters to compensate for the occurring failures.

The molding process is first run with the initial settings. Data of peak value of pressure, packing pressure, packing time, average pressure, peak temperature, and the average temperature is extracted from the temperature and pressure profiles. These extracted values are then compared with their threshold limits to detect the cases of failure. After searching the database for the best solution, the new adjusted process parameter is delivered as the output of the system, and the same is delivered to the controller. The controller then adjusts the process parameters according to the algorithm output.

6.3.2. System architecture for a smart quality control system

To implement the smart quality control module, a system architecture is introduced. The architecture includes a data collection module from sensors, a failure recognition module after the comparison with threshold limits, and a decision-making module that follows a predefined set of rules. This is connected to the database through a developed user interface. The most important part of this module is the numerical control module that adjusts the process parameters based on the recommendations from the control algorithm. Architecture is detailed in Figure 6.6.



Figure 6.5. Control algorithm



Figure 6.6. System architecture

6.4. Results & discussion

Based on the results of several experiments and consultation with manufacturing experts, an applicable rule-based algorithm for choosing the new process parameter is introduced.

6.4.1. Algorithm for adjusting parameters based on if-then case-based rules

The defined rules are integrated into MATLAB programming and executed directly from

it. Some of the cases are described below:

- If average peak values of 5 molding cycles are larger than the upper value, then decrease flow rate by 2 cm³/s; else Do Nothing.
- If packing pressure is greater than the upper value, then decrease packing pressure by 1%; else Do Nothing.
- If the packing time is longer than the upper value, then decrease the packing time by 0.25 s and decrease packing pressure by 0.5%; else Do Nothing.

- If the average of the maximum values for mold cavity temperature in 5 continuous cycles is greater than the upper value, then decrease the melt temperature by 1°C; else Do Nothing.
- If the average mold cavity temperature in a molding cycle (obtained by integration) is greater than the upper value, decrease the coolant temperature by 1^oC; else, Do Nothing.

6.4.2. Control strategy to avoid failures

Based on the case-based rules described in the previous section, a few examples are introduced to validate the control mechanism. As shown in Figure 6.7, in cases of warpage and short shot failure in the cyber model, changes are recommended for the process parameters. The occurrence of the failure is recognized from the extracted feature behavior of the sensor signals.

Case	Failure type	Control action		
Higher cavity temperature & pressure		Change in machine initial control parameters		
Short Weld lines	Warpage	 Decrease injection rate by 2 % and make it 441g/cm³ Melt temperature also decrease by 5 % and make it 232°C Other parameters, keep same Else do nothing 		
Lower cavity temperature & pressure		Increase the melt temperature and injection pressure		
Short Booking pressure 35 MPa 45 MPa	Short shot	 Increase injection rate by 3 % Increase packing time by 40 % - additional 2 seconds Increase melt temperature by 2.5% 238°C Coolant temperature set to 20°C 		

Figure 6.7. Control strategy to reduce warpage and short shot

6.4.3. Implementation of a sensor assisted monitoring system in a real factory environment

After the successful realization of the developed model in the cyber system, the model is tested in a real-world setting, using a Toshiba 2500 Ton injection-molding machine for manufacturing car-door trim in an automotive manufacturing factory. The information flow of the monitoring system starts with the molding process and then propagates through cavity sensors. Sensors collect temperature and pressure profiles and send this signal to a DAQ device. After converting the analog signal into digital data, the raw sensor data is classified, and features illustrating the quality are extracted. The programmed display tool then displays the current cycle's process parameter signal, as shown in Figure 6.10.

6.4.4. Installation of cavity sensors in a molding machine

After an extensive study of mold geometry, the complexity of the plastic car-door trim, and monitoring requirements, three temperature and three pressure sensors are installed through holes made in the mold cavity. The specification of sensors for pressure and temperature measurement are MCSG-B-127-2000 and TS-PF03-K, respectively. Sensor connection hardware, including wires, amplifiers, connecting devices, and DAQ equipment, were provided by RJG Inc. USA. The locations for the sensors are slightly different from the cyber model because sensors can only be installed by making holes inside the mold. Sensors are placed near the gates and to the location where defects are most reported. The sensors, DAQ equipment, connectors, and their assembly is shown in Figure 6.8 and 6.9.



Figure 6.8. Sensors and its mold assembly



Figure 6.9. DAQ and connectors

6.4.5. Development of interface for data monitoring and quality consistency control module

To connect the system components and provide quality control after analysis of raw signals, an integrated control system is programmed using the commercial tool. Data collected from the simulation, as well as real-world factory data, is used to identify threshold values for cavity temperature and pressure. Data is extracted automatically from the sensor signals. When any deviation is observed, the system alerts the operator and generates adjusted process parameters to return the monitored features within threshold limits. Due to difficulty in inducing sudden changes in temperatures of the molten material and the mold, the developed module required several cycles to achieve desired changes in the process parameters. The graphical user interface for the quality control system is shown in Figure 6.10. The initial parameters for injection molding are chosen as optimal conditions. Variations in the machine environment and plastic material properties increase the possibility of deviation in process parameters. The system visualizes real-time cavity pressure and temperature signals coming from the cyber and physical model and is displayed in separate dashboards. The temperature from the real machine is mold temperature, where the sensors are installed due to the design constraints. The display on the left side is from the cyber model, and on the right side, the data from the mold sensors are displayed. When a real-time signal exceeds the set threshold limit, the display interface triggers an alarm relayed to the machine operator, and simultaneously the process parameter is changed. The system has a dedicated smart button, which triggers the smart behavior when it is turned on.

	Pressure curves from cyber system	Pressure curves from in real time		Threshold	setting (P)
Pressure	Cavity pressure	Cavity pressure	Feature extraction: pressure	Min	Max
	· A		Peak pressure 37.193	35	40
Sensor 1	2-	2.	Packing pressure 24.63	26	30
Sensor 2	assa -	A Second A S	Packing duration 6.6	5.5	7
Farmer 2	E.	α. /	Aurrann 13.848		
Sellati 2				23	20
	Time	Time			
Temperature	Melt temperature	Mold temperature	- Feature extraction: temperature	Threshold	setting (T)
and the second second	-		Max temperature 231.3	Min	Max
Sensor 1	- the	atruc		238	242
Sensor 2	uper .	the	Min temperature 44.7	42	45
1020000000	E.	- Ter	Average 41.8		
Sensor 3				92	96
	Time	1//10			
	Initial optimized process parameter	Cycle number 8	Alarm . Out of threshold I Shor	shot I Check the bo	xes in red cr
Help	Flow rate (cm*3/s) 450				
	Packing pressure (%) 50	Smart control	Action 1 : Increase injection rat	u 13 g/cm*3	
About	Packing time (s) 5	Reset	Action 2 Increase packing tim	e 2 sec	
	Malt temperature /001	Start			
	240		Action 3 Increase melt tempe	CO 8 erutar	
	Conject temperature (3C1) 00	The second s			

Figure 6.10. Interface display for the quality control system

6.5. Implementation and functionality testing of the developed system

The chosen research object specifications are shown in Table 6.5.

Product name	Car door
Material	PP
Volume	831 cm ³
Max thickness	7.6 mm
Min thickness	1.8 mm
Failure type	Warpage

Table 6.5. Product specifications

A picture illustration of the machine and the product is given in Figure 6.11. The datadriven-smart quality control system is installed at a manufacturing factory. Cavity sensors installed in the mold cavity are connected to the monitoring system through DAQ and amplifier. With a software tool, signals are displayed. Failure detection from the monitoring system quickly notified the operator with alarm, and adapted process parameters like flow rate, packing time, hold pressure, melt temperature, or coolant temperature are also delivered to the controller. Implementation of the integrated monitoring and quality control system is followed by its validation by solving failure scenarios in its demonstration. Implementation plan and factory setup pictures from the factory are provided in Figures 6.12 and 6.13. In the case of short shot failure detection, the smart quality control gives the adjustment process parameters to the controller for increasing the injection rate by 13g/cm³, packing time by 2 seconds, melt temperature by 6⁰ C, and coolant temperature by 2⁰ C. However, the suggested increase in the process parameters cannot be achieved instantly, especially the melt temperature. So, it is achieved in successive cycles. Due to the aged condition of the machine controller, the target changes are done with the operator's help. Further work is being in progress to make it autonomous.



Figure 6.11. Molding machine and the car door trim module



Figure 6.12. Implementation of the quality consistency control system



Figure 6.13. Testing the functionality of the system

6.6. Conclusion and future works

This work presented an engineering analysis model to analyze the process behavior in a cyber-way because a fully experimental approach is a lengthy, costly, and impractical option. Conventionally this understanding is entirely dependent on the operator's feedback. The analysis of the collected data from the cyber model and real factory experiments resulted in the design of the process control boundary as a process window. A graphical user interface created in MATLAB provides smart AI-based quality control. A rule-based intelligent algorithm based entirely on the experience and knowledge gained through the proposed study is derived. A data-driven monitoring and smart quality control system for injection molding is developed and implemented in a real manufacturing factory. And with the application of this robust system, existing quality problems have been addressed. The developed system's performance achieved its target of solving a real-world industrial problem and reduced the number of scrap parts as well as the operating cost of the process. This system will surely benefit society with more reliable product quality, job opportunities, and energy saving. Future research for this topic is oriented towards making the whole process automated and, after the data collection applying it to mass production and to the different injection molding machines and products.



Chapter 7 . CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORKS

7.1. Conclusion

The presented thesis has presented a novel approach and methodology for monitoring and controlling the cyclic manufacturing process. In the case of the injection molding process, pressure and temperature with installed cavity sensors are monitored, and process abnormality is detected. The rule-based control algorithm is used to control the injection molding process. A vibration-based system is used to monitor the double-sided grinding process in the manufacturing of the brake disc. Based on the vibration characteristics of process behavior, a software module is developed which facilitates the real-time monitoring of the grinding process. The developed system comprises of vibration sensor, data acquisition device, monitoring window as the hardware components. The developed system has modules like signal acquisition, feature extraction, threshold limiting, failure detection, alarm, and data storage. It can be used further for training as well as better manufacturing planning and hence reducing the occurrence of quality failures. Conventionally these monitoring systems are not implemented at the production site. However, we have tried to solve the real quality issues faced by the grinding manufacturer. The monitoring system detects the process failure through the real-time monitoring of the vibration signal from the process.

It also includes the development and implementation of an autonomous control system for the manufacturing of the brake disc by the process of grinding. The smart decision-making or the control module suggests the change of the process parameters in order to bring the process behavior within threshold limits. AI-based process parameter prediction system is designed and implemented. The trained model predicts the grinding wheel RPM from the vibration error delivered from the monitoring system. Moreover, the smart control algorithm compares the predicted grinding wheel RPM and the reference grinding wheel RPM. The difference of the process parameter is delivered to the machine controller for the adjustment. The change in process parameters is delivered to the machine controller through PLC and developed module connection. The whole setup is installed at the factory using a vibration sensor, mounting, sensor cables, DAQ, monitoring window, OPC server, and industrial PC as its required hardware components. After the installation, its functioning is demonstrated with the grinding process of the brake disc. Earlier, the factory personnel used to check the finished product physically and then modify the process parameters repeatedly to get the product with the best quality. However, the development and implementation of such an intelligent system made all the tasks autonomous. Results and feedback from the manufacturers about the system are pretty encouraging. The system is very convenient, easy to use, and helpful to the manufacturers in reducing surface defect failures and increasing the factory's overall productivity by 5 % after its complete installation. It has helped transform a conventional manufacturing factory into a smart factory along with the benefits in terms of economy. It is also going to help society by reducing the work hazard to the operator due to the prolonged quality checking hours and creating lots of new job opportunities in terms of intelligent and autonomous technology. Making the whole process more autonomous and including the predictive maintenance system for machinery components will make this system more robust and versatile.

7.2. Limitations

The advocated work is taking a step towards making the conventional factory into the smart factory. However, the sensor installation and data collection have been a significant concern, especially for the failure products. The model is trained on a particular machine, and the same model cannot be used for other machines. The logic is valid for only the machine from which the data is collected and trained.

7.3. Future works

To solve the limitations of the presented work, the future cope of this involves designing a digital twin-based model for the grinding process, which can reciprocate the actual grinding behavior. Once we can get such a simulator model to test our control algorithm with virtual PLC, we can use reinforcement learning to train the model using open source AI brain for decision-making like Bonsai from Microsoft. The limitation of deriving the interrelationship between the monitored and controlled parameters can be easily solved.



Curriculum Vitae

Name	:	Saurabh Kumar
Date of Birth	:	December 31, 1994
Place of Birth	:	Jharkhand, India
		Education
2011.8. ~ 2015.6.		B.E in Mechanical Engineering
		Rajiv Gandhi Proudyogiki Vishwavidyalaya,
		Madhyapradesh, India
2017.3. ~ 2021.11.		Ph.D., Department of Mechanical Engineering
		University of Ulsan,
		Ulsan, Korea



Publications

Journal

 <u>Kumar, S¹</u>; Park, H. S².; Nedelcu, D³., "Development of Real-time Grinding Process Monitoring and Analysis System", *International Journal of Precision Engineering and Manufacturing.*, 2021, 22, 1345-1355, DOI: 10.1007/s12541-021-00539-5

 [2] <u>Kumar, S¹.</u>; Park, H. S².; Lee, C. M³.., "Data-driven Smart Control of Injection Molding Process", *CIRP-Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*, 2020, *31*, 439-449, DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2020.07.006

[3] Febriani, R. A¹.; Park, H. S².; <u>Kumar, S³.</u>; Lee, C. M⁴., "Preform Optimization of Functional Bevel Gear for Warm Forging Processes", *International Journal of Automotive Technology*, 2020, *21*, 1097-1106, DOI: <u>10.1007/s12239-020-0103-y</u>

[4] Park, H. S¹.; Dang, X. P².; <u>Kumar, S³</u>., "Design of Advanced Injection Mold to Increase Cooling Efficiency", *International Journal of Precision engineering and Manufacturing-Green Technology*, 2020, 7, 319-328, DOI: <u>10.1007/s40684-019-00041-4</u>

[5] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S².</u>; Dang, X. P³., "AI based Injection Molding Process for Consistent Product Quality", *Procedia Manufacturing*, 2019, 28, 102-106, DOI: 10.1016/j.promfg.2018.12.017

[6] Park, H. S¹.; Febriani, R. A².; <u>Kumar, S³.</u>, "Preform Optimization for Bevel Gear of Warm Forging Process" *Procedia CIRP*, 2018, 72, 340-345, DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.083

[7] <u>Kumar, S¹</u>; Park, H. S².; Lee, C. M³,; Qi, B⁴., "Data-driven Smart Monitoring and Control of Grinding Process", Under Review *CIRP-Journal of Manufacturing Science* and Technology.

[8] <u>Kumar, S¹.</u>; Qi, B²; Park, H. S³.; Lee, C. M⁴., "Big Data and AI based Automation of Grinding Process Intelligence", (In Preparation)
[9] Qi, B¹., <u>Kumar, S².</u>; Park, H. S³.; Lee, C. M⁴., "Development of Digital Twin System for
 Optimizing Grinding Process Parameters", (In Preparation)

Book Chapter

 [1] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S².</u>; Qi, B³., "Study on the Development of a Deformation Prediction System for 3D Printed Parts in Additive Manufacturing", *Recent Trends in Chemical and Material Sciences, Book Pi International.*, 2021, 4, ISBN: <u>978-93-5547-208-</u> <u>3</u>

[2] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S².</u>; Lee, C. M³., "Autonomous Monitoring and Quality Control in Cyclic Mannufacturing Process", *New Ideas Concerning Science and Technology, Book Pi International.*, 2020, 2, ISBN: 978-93-90431-93-9

Program Registration

 [1] Title: "Grinding Spindle Bearing Remaining Useful Life Prediction System", Registration No. C-2021-035496

[2] Title: "Smart Monitoring and Control of Grinding Process using Vibration Sensors", Registration No. C-2021-023374

[3] Title: "Vibration Data Collection System for Grinding Process Monitoring", Registration No. C-2021-019475

[4] Title: "Control Simulation Program for Injection Molding Process Intelligence", (Submitted)

Patent

[1] Title: "Digital Twin Based Grinding Process Control of Brake Disc Manufacturing", (Submitted)

□ Award

 [1] Park, H. S.; <u>Kumar, S.</u>, Best Paper Award at an Academic Conference, "Smart Monitoring and Control System for Quality Consistency of Injection Molding" KSPE 2019 Conference.

Conférences and Meetings

 [1] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>; Qi, B³., "Brake-disc Manufacturing Process Control based on Digital Twin", KSAE 2021

[2] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>; Qi, B³., "Digital Twin based Smart Monitoring and Control System for Double-sided Grinding Process", KSME 2021

 [3] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "An Integrated Monitoring and PHM System for Cyclic Manufacturing Process", ASME-IMECE 2021

 [4] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Monitoring and Control of the Grinding Process for Consistent Quality", KSME 2020

 [5] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Online Monitoring and Quality Control in Cyclic Manufacturing Process", KSAE 2020

 [6] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "A Data-driven Predictive Maintenance and Process Monitoring System for Grinding Machine", ASME-IMECE 2020

[7] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Development of Advanced Injection Mold with Additive Manufacturing for Efficient Cooling", TCT Korea 2019

[8] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Smart Monitoring and Control System for Quality Consistency in Injection Molding", KSPE 2019

[9] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Advanced Injection Mold Design and Monitoring for Consistent Quality", ICMR 2019

[10] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Autonomous Injection Molding Control System for Consistent Product Quality", CARV 2018 [11] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "Data-driven System for Controlling Injection Molding Process", CDE 2018

[12] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>., "AI based Monitoring and Control of Injection Molding
 Process for Consistent Product Quality", ASME IMECE 2017

 [13] Park, H. S¹.; <u>Kumar, S²</u>; Phuong, D., "Development of Injection Molding Technology for Improving Productivity and Quality", DAAAM 2017



References

- Reddy, P.P.; Ghosh, A. Effect of Cryogenic Cooling on Spindle Power and G-ratio in Grinding of Hardened Bearing Steel. *Procedia Mater. Sci.* 2014, *5*, 2622–2628, doi:10.1016/j.mspro.2014.07.523.
- Wegener, K.; Hoffmeister, H.W.; Karpuschewski, B.; Kuster, F.; Hahmann, W.C.; Rabiey, M. Conditioning and monitoring of grinding wheels. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.* 2011, 60, 757–777, doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2011.05.003.
- Kara, S.; Li, W. Unit process energy consumption models for material removal processes. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.* 2011, 60, 37–40, doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2011.03.018.
- 4. Malkin, S. Grinding wheels: composition and properties; 1989; ISBN 0853127565.
- Lauro, C.H.; Brandão, L.C.; Baldo, D.; Reis, R.A.; Davim, J.P. Monitoring and processing signal applied in machining processes - A review. *Meas. J. Int. Meas. Confed.* 2014, 58, 73–86, doi:10.1016/j.measurement.2014.08.035.
- Rubio, E.; Jáuregui-Correa, J.C. A wavelet approach to estimate the quality of ground parts. J. Appl. Res. Technol. 2012, 10, 28–37, doi:10.22201/icat.16656423.2012.10.1.418.
- Kumar, S.; Park, H.S.; Nedelcu, D. Development of Real-time Grinding Process Monitoring and Analysis System. *Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf.* 2021, 22, 1345–1355, doi:10.1007/s12541-021-00539-5.
- 8. Skf, A. Intelligent Grinding Combines Controls, Sensors, and Process Monitoring.
- Lopes, W.N.; Thomazella, R.; Alexandre, F.A.; De Aguiar, P.R.; Bianchi, E.C.; De Junior, B.R.P.; Viera, M.A.A. Monitoring of self-excited vibration in grinding process using time-frequency analysis of acceleration signals. 2018 13th IEEE Int. Conf. Ind. Appl. INDUSCON 2018 Proc. 2019, 659–663,

doi:10.1109/INDUSCON.2018.8627198.

- Energy, S.; Energy, S. Grinding Technology : Theory and Applications of Machining with Abrasives, Second Edition Grinding Technology : Theory and Applications of Machining with Abrasives, Second Edition 5.3 GRINDING FORCES, POWER, AND SPECIFIC ENERGY Grinding Technology : 2019, 3–6.
- Axinte, D.A.; Gindy, N.; Fox, K.; Unanue, I. Process monitoring to assist the workpiece surface quality in machining. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2004, 44, 1091–1108, doi:10.1016/j.ijmachtools.2004.02.020.
- Klocke, F.; Barth, S.; Mattfeld, P. High Performance Grinding. *Procedia CIRP* 2016, 46, 266–271, doi:10.1016/j.procir.2016.04.067.
- Maier, M.; Rupenyan, A.; Bobst, C.; Wegener, K. Self-optimizing grinding machines using Gaussian process models and constrained Bayesian optimization. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2020, *108*, 539–552, doi:10.1007/s00170-020-05369-9.
- Tian, Y.B.; Zhong, Z.W.; Rawat, R. Comparative study on grinding of thin-walled and honeycomb-structured components with two CBN wheels. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2015, *81*, 1097–1108, doi:10.1007/s00170-015-7114-2.
- Huang, H.; Gong, Z.M.; Chen, X.Q.; Zhou, L. SMART robotic system for 3D profile turbine vane airfoil repair. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2003, 21, 275–283, doi:10.1007/s001700300032.
- 16. Advances, S.; French, R.; Marin-reyes, H.; Benakis, M. This is a repository copy of Transfer Analysis of Human Engineering Skills for Adaptive Robotic Additive Manufacturing in the Aerospace Repair and Overhaul Industry . White Rose Research Online URL for this paper : Version : Accepted Version Transfer Anal. 2018.
- Ramesh, K.; Han, H. The effects of grinding wheel speed on Burr creation and surface quality. *Met. Finish.* 2003, *101*, 57–61, doi:10.1016/S0026-0576(03)90204-2.

- Oliveira, J.F.G.; Silva, E.J.; Guo, C.; Hashimoto, F. Industrial challenges in grinding. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.* 2009, 58, 663–680, doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2009.09.006.
- Hart, P.W. Design of an Original Methodology for the Efficient and Economic Appraisal of Existing and New Technologies in Form Grinding Processes including Helical. 2018.
- Systems, M. Sensor-Based Tool-Wear Monitoring Systems. *Mech. Syst. Signal Process.* 1996, 10, 439–458.
- Dimla, D.E.; Lister, P.M. On-line metal cutting tool condition monitoring. I: force and vibration analyses. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2000, 40, 739–768, doi:10.1016/S0890-6955(99)00084-X.
- Oraby, S.E. Monitoring of turning operation via force signals Part 1: Recognition of different tool failure forms by spectral analysis. *Wear* 1995, 184, 133–143, doi:10.1016/0043-1648(94)06567-5.
- Twardowski, P.; Tabaszewski, M.; Wiciak Pikuła, M.; Felusiak-Czyryca, A. Identification of tool wear using acoustic emission signal and machine learning methods. *Precis. Eng.* 2021, 72, 738–744, doi:10.1016/j.precisioneng.2021.07.019.
- Jemielniak, K. Some aspects of acoustic emission signal pre-processing. J. Mater. Process. Technol. 2001, 109, 242–247, doi:10.1016/S0924-0136(00)00805-0.
- 25. Belgassim, O.; Jemielnia, K. Tool failure detection based on statistical analysis of metal cutting acoustic emission signals. *World Acad. Sci. Eng. Technol.* **2011**, *50*, 545–552.
- Kang, M.C.; Kim, J.S.; Kim, J.H. A monitoring technique using a multi-sensor in high speed machining. *J. Mater. Process. Technol.* 2001, *113*, 331–336, doi:10.1016/S0924-0136(01)00698-7.
- Tansel, I.N.; Arkan, T.T.; Bao, W.Y.; Mahendrakar, N.; Shisler, B.; Smith, D.; McCool,
 M. Tool wear estimation in micro-machining. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2000, 40, 609–620, doi:10.1016/s0890-6955(99)00074-7.

- Gupta, M.K.; Mikolajczyk, T.; Giasin, K.; Kapłonek, W. A Review of Indirect Tool Condition Monitoring Systems and. *Sensors* 2021.
- 29. Tönshoff, H.K.; Friemuth, T.; Becker, J.C. Process monitoring in grinding. *CIRP Ann. Manuf. Technol.* 2002, *51*, 551–571, doi:10.1016/S0007-8506(07)61700-4.
- Warren Liao, T.; Ting, C.F.; Qu, J.; Blau, P.J. A wavelet-based methodology for grinding wheel condition monitoring. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2007, 47, 580–592, doi:10.1016/j.ijmachtools.2006.05.008.
- Heinzel, C.; Sölter, J.; Jermolajev, S.; Kolkwitz, B.; Brinksmeier, E. A versatile method to determine thermal limits in grinding. *Procedia CIRP* 2014, 13, 131–136, doi:10.1016/j.procir.2014.04.023.
- Subramanian, K.; Lindsay, R.P. A systems approach for the use of vitrified bonded superabrasive wheels for precision production grinding. *J. Manuf. Sci. Eng. Trans. ASME* 1992, *114*, 41–52, doi:10.1115/1.2899757.
- Denkena, B.; Busemann, S.; Gottwik, L.; Grove, T.; Wippermann, A. Material Removal Mechanisms in Grinding of Mixed Oxide Ceramics. *Procedia CIRP* 2017, 65, 70–77, doi:10.1016/j.procir.2017.04.011.
- Pal, S.; Rajoria, R.P. Reduction of the Machining Time of a Crankshaft Machining using Method Study. 2015, 2, 66–69.
- Tian, W.; Advisor, M. Signature Analysis of OD Grinding Processes with Applications in Monitoring and Diagnosis. 2009.
- Kannan, K.; Arunachalam, N.; Chawla, A.; Natarajan, S. Multi-Sensor Data Analytics for Grinding Wheel Redress Life Estimation- An Approach towards Industry 4.0. *Procedia Manuf.* 2018, 26, 1230–1241, doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2018.07.160.
- 37. Seera, M.; Lim, C.P.; Ishak, D.; Singh, H. Fault detection and diagnosis of induction motors using motor current signature analysis and a hybrid FMM-CART Model. *IEEE*

 Trans.
 Neural
 Networks
 Learn.
 Syst.
 2012,
 23,
 97–108,

 doi:10.1109/TNNLS.2011.2178443.

- Yang, Z.; Yu, Z. Grinding wheel wear monitoring based on wavelet analysis and support vector machine. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2012, *62*, 107–121, doi:10.1007/s00170-011-3797-1.
- Barbieri, F.; Hines, J.W.; Sharp, M.; Venturini, M. Sensor-based degradation prediction and prognostics for remaining useful life estimation: Validation on experimental data of electric motors. *Int. J. Progn. Heal. Manag.* 2015, 6, 1–20, doi:10.36001/ijphm.2015.v6i3.2285.
- Cai, Y.; Starly, B.; Cohen, P.; Lee, Y.S. Sensor Data and Information Fusion to Construct Digital-twins Virtual Machine Tools for Cyber-physical Manufacturing. *Procedia Manuf.* 2017, 10, 1031–1042, doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.094.
- 41. Zhu, Y.K.; Tian, G.Y.; Lu, R.S.; Zhang, H. A review of optical NDT technologies. *Sensors* 2011, *11*, 7773–7798, doi:10.3390/s110807773.
- 42. Reser, C.; Reich, C. Grinding burn prediction with artificial neural networks based on grinding parameters. *Smart SysTech 2019 Eur. Conf. Smart Objects, Syst. Technol.* 2019, 56–60.
- Lanzagorta, J.L.; Urgoiti, L.; Vazquez, P.R.; Barrenetxea, D.; Sánchez, J.A. Experimental approach for a grinding burn in-process inspection system based on Eddy Current. *Procedia CIRP* 2020, 87, 391–396, doi:10.1016/j.procir.2020.02.011.
- Khazi, I.; Kovacs, A.; Zahedi, A.; Reser, C.; Mescheder, U.; Azarhoushang, B.; Reich,
 C. Real time In-Situ Quality Monitoring of Grinding Process using Microtechnology
 based Sensor Fusion. *IEEE Int. Conf. Semicond. Electron. Proceedings, ICSE* 2020,
 2020-July, 180–184, doi:10.1109/ICSE49846.2020.9166898.
- 45. Hassui, A.; Diniz, A.E. Correlating surface roughness and vibration on plunge

cylindrical grinding of steel. Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf. 2003, 43, 855–862, doi:10.1016/S0890-6955(03)00049-X.

- Hassui, A.; Diniz, A.E.; Oliveira, J.F.G.; Felipe, J.; Gomes, J.J.F. Experimental evaluation on grinding wheel wear through vibration and acoustic emission. *Wear* 1998, 217, 7–14, doi:10.1016/S0043-1648(98)00166-5.
- 47. Neto, R.F.G.; Marchi, M.; Martins, C.; Aguiar, P.R.; Bianchi, E. Monitoring of grinding burn by AE and vibration signals. *ICAART 2014 Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Agents Artif. Intell.*2014, 1, 272–279, doi:10.5220/0004753602720279.
- Liu, Q.; Chen, X.; Gindy, N. Fuzzy pattern recognition of AE signals for grinding burn. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2005, 45, 811–818, doi:10.1016/j.ijmachtools.2004.11.002.
- de Aguiar, P.R.; Carlos, E.; Chinali, R. Monitoring of Grinding Burn by Acoustic Emission. Acoust. Emiss. 2012, doi:10.5772/31339.
- Ahmadzadeh, F.; Lundberg, J. Remaining useful life prediction of grinding mill liners using an artificial neural network. *Miner. Eng.* 2013, 53, 1–8, doi:10.1016/j.mineng.2013.05.026.
- Lu, Z.; Wang, M.; Dai, W. Machined surface quality monitoring using a wireless sensory tool holder in the machining process. *Sensors (Switzerland)* 2019, 19, doi:10.3390/s19081847.
- Dotto, F.R.L.; Aguiar, P.R. de; Bianchi, E.C.; Flauzino, R.A.; Castelhano, G. de O.; Pansanato, L. Automatic detection of thermal damage in grinding process by artificial neural network. *Rem Rev. Esc. Minas* 2003, *56*, 295–300, doi:10.1590/s0370-44672003000400013.
- Irani, R.A.; Bauer, R.J.; Warkentin, A. A review of cutting fluid application in the grinding process. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2005, 45, 1696–1705, doi:10.1016/j.ijmachtools.2005.03.006.

- Kwak, J.S.; Ha, M.K. Neural network approach for diagnosis of grinding operation by acoustic emission and power signals. *J. Mater. Process. Technol.* 2004, 147, 65–71, doi:10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2003.11.016.
- Ribeiro, D.M.S.; Aguiar, P.R.; Fabiano, L.F.G.; D'Addona, D.M.; Baptista, F.G.; Bianchi, E.C. Spectra Measurements Using Piezoelectric Diaphragms to Detect Burn in Grinding Process. *IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas.* 2017, 66, 3052–3063, doi:10.1109/TIM.2017.2731038.
- Bai, Y.; Sun, Z.; Deng, J.; Li, L.; Long, J.; Li, C. Manufacturing quality prediction using intelligent learning approaches: A comparative study. *Sustain.* 2017, 10, 1–15, doi:10.3390/su10010085.
- Liew, S.S.; Khalil-Hani, M.; Bakhteri, R. Bounded activation functions for enhanced training stability of deep neural networks on visual pattern recognition problems. *Neurocomputing* 2016, 216, 718–734, doi:10.1016/j.neucom.2016.08.037.
- Li, C.; Sanchez, R.V.; Zurita, G.; Cerrada, M.; Cabrera, D.; Vásquez, R.E. Gearbox fault diagnosis based on deep random forest fusion of acoustic and vibratory signals. *Mech. Syst. Signal Process.* 2016, 76–77, 283–293, doi:10.1016/j.ymssp.2016.02.007.
- Teoh, E.J.; Tan, K.C.; Xiang, C. Estimating the number of hidden neurons in a feedforward network using the singular value decomposition. *IEEE Trans. Neural Networks* 2006, 17, 1623–1629, doi:10.1109/TNN.2006.880582.
- Bai, Y.; Sun, Z.; Zeng, B.; Deng, J.; Li, C. A multi-pattern deep fusion model for shortterm bus passenger flow forecasting. *Appl. Soft Comput. J.* 2017, 58, 669–680, doi:10.1016/j.asoc.2017.05.011.
- 61. Özyürek, D.; Kalyon, A.; Yildirim, M.; Tuncay, T.; Çiftçi, I. Experimental investigation and prediction of wear properties of Al/SiC metal matrix composites produced by thixomoulding method using Artificial Neural Networks. *Mater. Des.* **2014**, *63*, 270–

277, doi:10.1016/j.matdes.2014.06.005.

- Zain, A.M.; Haron, H.; Sharif, S. Prediction of surface roughness in the end milling machining using Artificial Neural Network. *Expert Syst. Appl.* 2010, 37, 1755–1768, doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2009.07.033.
- Kumar, R.; Chauhan, S. Study on surface roughness measurement for turning of Al 7075/10/SiCp and Al 7075 hybrid composites by using response surface methodology (RSM) and artificial neural networking (ANN). *Meas. J. Int. Meas. Confed.* 2015, 65, 166–180, doi:10.1016/j.measurement.2015.01.003.
- 64. Schmidt, J.; Marques, M.R.G.; Botti, S.; Marques, M.A.L. Recent advances and applications of machine learning in solid-state materials science. *npj Comput. Mater.* 2019, *5*, doi:10.1038/s41524-019-0221-0.
- 65. Wang, Y.; Boulic, M.; Phipps, R.; Plagmann, M.; Cunningham, C. Experimental performance of a solar air collector with a perforated back plate in New Zealand. *Energies* 2020, 13, 1–16, doi:10.3390/en13061415.
- 66. He, B.; Wei, C.; Ding, S.; Shi, Z. A survey of methods for detecting metallic grinding burn. *Meas. J. Int. Meas. Confed.* 2019, 134, 426–439, doi:10.1016/j.measurement.2018.10.093.
- Krishnakumar, P.; Rameshkumar, K.; Ramachandran, K.I. Machine learning based tool condition classification using acoustic emission and vibration data in high speed milling process using wavelet features. *Intell. Decis. Technol.* 2018, *12*, 265–282, doi:10.3233/IDT-180332.
- Teti, R.; Jemielniak, K.; O'Donnell, G.; Dornfeld, D. Advanced monitoring of machining operations. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.* 2010, 59, 717–739, doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2010.05.010.
- 69. Arun, A.; Rameshkumar, K.; Unnikrishnan, D.; Sumesh, A. Tool Condition Monitoring

of Cylindrical Grinding Process Using Acoustic Emission Sensor. *Mater. Today Proc.* **2018**, *5*, 11888–11899, doi:10.1016/j.matpr.2018.02.162.

- Krishnakumar, P.; Rameshkumar, K.; Ramachandran, K.I. Feature level fusion of vibration and acoustic emission signals in tool condition monitoring using machine learning classifiers. *Int. J. Progn. Heal. Manag.* 2018, 9, 1–15, doi:10.36001/ijphm.2018.v9i1.2694.
- Liu, T.; Deng, Z.; Lv, L.; She, S.; Liu, W.; Luo, C. Experimental analysis of process parameter effects on vibrations in the high-speed grinding of a camshaft. *Stroj. Vestnik/Journal Mech. Eng.* 2020, *66*, 175–183, doi:10.5545/sv-jme.2019.6294.
- Zhang, S.; Yu, J.; To, S.; Xiong, Z. A theoretical and experimental study of spindle imbalance induced forced vibration and its effect on surface generation in diamond turning. *Int. J. Mach. Tools Manuf.* 2018, 133, 61–71, doi:10.1016/j.ijmachtools.2018.06.002.
- 73. Aleksandrova, I.S. Multi-objective optimization of the dressing parameters in fine cylindrical grinding. *J. Mech. Eng.* **2019**, *65*, 87–102, doi:10.5545/sv-jme.2018.5677.
- 74. Al-Shayea, A.; Abdullah, F.M.; Noman, M.A.; Kaid, H.; Abouel Nasr, E. Studying and Optimizing the Effect of Process Parameters on Machining Vibration in Turning Process of AISI 1040 Steel. *Adv. Mater. Sci. Eng.* 2020, 2020, doi:10.1155/2020/5480614.
- Shankar, N.V.S.; Ravi Shankar, H.; Pavan Kumar, N.; Saichandu, K. Process Parameter Optimization for Minimizing Vibrations and Surface Roughness during Turning EN19 Steel Using Coated Carbide Tool. *Mater. Today Proc.* 2020, 24, 788–797, doi:10.1016/j.matpr.2020.04.387.
- Vairamuthu, R.; Bhushan, B.M.; Srikanth, R.; Babu, N.R. Performance Enhancement of Cylindrical Grinding Process with a Portable Diagnostic System. *Procedia Manuf.* 2016, 5, 1320–1336, doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2016.08.103.

- Veera Ajay, C.; Vinoth, V. Optimization of process parameters in turning of aluminum alloy using response surface methodology. *Mater. Today Proc.* 2019, *46*, 9462–9468, doi:10.1016/j.matpr.2020.03.236.
- Neşeli, S.; Asiltürk, I.; Çelik, L. Determining the optimum process parameter for grinding operations using robust process. *J. Mech. Sci. Technol.* 2012, *26*, 3587–3595, doi:10.1007/s12206-012-0851-3.
- Palanikumar, K. Application of Taguchi and response surface methodologies for surface roughness in machining glass fiber reinforced plastics by PCD tooling. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2008, 36, 19–27, doi:10.1007/s00170-006-0811-0.
- Krajnik, P.; Kopac, J.; Sluga, A. Design of grinding factors based on response surface methodology. J. Mater. Process. Technol. 2005, 162–163, 629–636, doi:10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2005.02.187.
- Gopala Krishna, A. Optimization of surface grinding operations using a differential evolution approach. J. Mater. Process. Technol. 2007, 183, 202–209, doi:10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2006.10.010.
- Lubrication, M. Development of a Thin-Film Sensor for In Situ Measurement of Mixed Lubrication. 2021.
- Wang, J.S.; Shen, N.N.; Sun, S.F. Integrated modeling and intelligent control methods of grinding process. *Math. Probl. Eng.* 2013, 2013, doi:10.1155/2013/456873.
- Wang, J.S.; Shen, N.N. Hybrid Multiple Soft-Sensor Models of Grinding Granularity Based on Cuckoo Searching Algorithm and Hysteresis Switching Strategy. *Sci. Program.* 2015, 2015, doi:10.1155/2015/146410.
- Casali, A.; Gonzalez, G.; Torres, F.; Vallebuona, G.; Castelli, L.; Gimenez, P. Particle size distribution soft-sensor for a grinding circuit. *Powder Technol.* 1998, 99, 15–21, doi:10.1016/S0032-5910(98)00084-9.

- Sequeira, S.E.; Graells, M.; Puigjaner, L. Real-time evolution for on-line optimization of continuous processes. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2002, *41*, 1815–1825, doi:10.1021/ie0104641.
- Yin, S.; Luo, H.; Ding, S.X. Real-time implementation of fault-tolerant control systems with performance optimization. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 2014, *61*, 2402–2411, doi:10.1109/TIE.2013.2273477.
- Kouro, S.; Cortés, P.; Vargas, R.; Ammann, U.; Rodríguez, J. Model predictive control A simple and powerful Method to control power converters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 2009, *56*, 1826–1838, doi:10.1109/TIE.2008.2008349.
- Chai, T.; Ding, J.; Wu, F. Hybrid intelligent control for optimal operation of shaft furnace roasting process. *Control Eng. Pract.* 2011, 19, 264–275, doi:10.1016/j.conengprac.2010.05.002.
- Guo, L.; Wang, H.; Zhang, J. Data-driven grinding control using reinforcement learning. Proc. - 21st IEEE Int. Conf. High Perform. Comput. Commun. 17th IEEE Int. Conf. Smart City 5th IEEE Int. Conf. Data Sci. Syst. HPCC/SmartCity/DSS 2019 2019, 2817– 2824, doi:10.1109/HPCC/SmartCity/DSS.2019.00395.
- 91. Sundblad, W. The Four Levels of a Smart Factory Evolution. *Forbes* **2019**.
- Zhang, J.Z.; Chen, J.C.; Kirby, E.D. The development of an in-process surface roughness adaptive control system in turning operations. *J. Intell. Manuf.* 2007, *18*, 301– 311, doi:10.1007/s10845-007-0024-x.
- Voronov, S.A.; Veidun, M. Mathematical modeling of the cylindrical grinding process.
 J. Mach. Manuf. Reliab. 2017, *46*, 394–403, doi:10.3103/S1052618817030177.
- 94. Parenti, P.; Leonesio, M.; Cassinari, A.; Bianchi, G.; Monno, M. Advanced Process Control for Improving Surface finishing in Traverse Grinding Advanced Process Control for Improving Surface finishing in Traverse Grinding. 2015.

- Hunt, K.J.; Sbarbaro, D.; Zbikowski, R.; Gawthrop, P.J. Neural networks for control systems-A survey. *Automatica* 1992, 28, 1083–1112, doi:10.1016/0005-1098(92)90053-I.
- 96. Savic, I.M.; Gajic, D.G.; Savic-Gajic, I.M. Applications of artificial neural networks in chemical engineering. *Artif. Neural Networks New Res.* **2017**, *17*, 1–24.
- 97. Majumder, M. Artificial Neural Network. 2015, 49–54, doi:10.1007/978-981-4560-73-3_3.
- Jacobs, R.A. Increased rates of convergence through learning rate adaptation. *Neural Networks* 1988, 1, 295–307, doi:10.1016/0893-6080(88)90003-2.
- 99. Lau Suki Learning Rate Schedules and Adaptive Learning Rate Methods for Deep Learning | by Suki Lau | Towards Data Science. 2017.
- Liu, Z.; Wang, H.; Weng, L.; Yang, Y. Ship Rotated Bounding Box Space for Ship Extraction from High-Resolution Optical Satellite Images with Complex Backgrounds. *IEEE Geosci. Remote Sens. Lett.* 2016, 13, 1074–1078, doi:10.1109/LGRS.2016.2565705.
- 101. Distortions, I. Fundamentals of Neural 2002.
- 102. Xiang, C.; Ding, S.Q.; Lee, T.H. Geometrical interpretation and architecture selection of MLP. *IEEE Trans. Neural Networks* 2005, 16, 84–96, doi:10.1109/TNN.2004.836197.
- 103. Funahashi, K.I. On the approximate realization of continuous mappings by neural networks. *Neural Networks* 1989, 2, 183–192, doi:10.1016/0893-6080(89)90003-8.
- 104. Debao, C. Degree of approximation by superpositions of a sigmoidal function. *Approx. Theory its Appl.* 1993, 9, 17–28, doi:10.1007/BF02836480.
- Chauvin, Y.; Rumelhart, D.E.; Durbin, R.; Golden, R. Backpropagation: The Basic Theory. *Backpropagation Theory, Archit. Appl.* 1995, 0–34.

- 106. Courville, I.G. and Y.B. and A. Deep learning Book pdf. Nature 2016, 29, 1–73.
- 107. Jin, X.; Xu, C.; Feng, J.; Wei, Y.; Xiong, J.; Yan, S. Deep learning with S-shaped rectified linear activation units. 30th AAAI Conf. Artif. Intell. AAAI 2016 2016, 1737– 1743.
- 108. Brown, M.J.; Hutchinson, L.A.; Rainbow, M.J.; Deluzio, K.J.; De Asha, A.R. A comparison of self-selected walking speeds and walking speed variability when data are collected during repeated discrete trials and during continuous walking. *J. Appl. Biomech.* 2017, 33, 384–387, doi:10.1123/jab.2016-0355.
- 109. Mulla, M.Z. Cost, Activation, Loss Function || Neural. 2020.
- Wang, C.C.; Zhuo, X.X.; Zhu, Y.Q. Optimization analysis of vibration for grinder spindle. *Sensors Mater.* 2020, *32*, 407–416, doi:10.18494/SAM.2020.2603.
- 111. Jumianto, H.; Suhardjono; Sampurno; Effendi, M.K. Multi-response optimization on vibration and surface roughness of the process parameter surface grinding of OCR12VM using Taguchi-grey method. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2019**, *2187*, doi:10.1063/1.5138319.
- 112. Vu, N.P.; Nguyen, Q.T.; Tran, T.H.; Le, H.K.; Nguyen, A.T.; Luu, A.T.; Nguyen, V.T.;
 Le, X.H. Optimization of grinding parameters for minimum grinding time when grinding tablet punches by CBN wheel on CNC milling machine. *Appl. Sci.* 2019, *9*, 1–9, doi:10.3390/app9050957.
- 113. Chen, S.; Yang, S.; Liao, Z.; Cheung, C.F.; Jiang, Z.; Zhang, F. Curvature effect on surface topography and uniform scallop height control in normal grinding of optical curved surface considering wheel vibration. *Opt. Express* 2021, *29*, 8041, doi:10.1364/oe.418599.
- Tushar Gupta Deep Learning: Feedforward Neural Network Towards Data Science.
 Towar. Data Sci. 2017.
- 115. Arat, M.M. A Step by Step Backpropagation Example for Regression using an One-hot

Encoded Categorical Variable by hand and in Tensorflow. 2020.

- 116. Zhang, Y.; Mao, T.; Huang, Z.; Gao, H.; Li, D. A statistical quality monitoring method for plastic injection molding using machine built-in sensors. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2016, *85*, 2483–2494, doi:10.1007/s00170-015-8013-2.
- 117. Park, H.S.; Dang, X.-P. Technology for Improving Productivity and Quality of Injection Molding. 2018, 185–194, doi:10.2507/daaam.scibook.2018.17.
- Balc, N.O.; Berce, P.; Pacurar, R. Comparison between SLM and SLS in producing complex metal parts. *Ann. DAAAM Proc. Int. DAAAM Symp.* 2010, 21, 7–8.
- Park, H.-S.; Dang, X.-P.; Nguyen, D.-S.; Kumar, S. Design of Advanced Injection Mold to Increase Cooling Efficiency. *Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf. Technol.* 2019, 8–10, doi:10.1007/s40684-019-00041-4.
- Hopmann, C.; Abel, D.; Heinisch, J.; Stemmler, S. Self-optimizing injection molding based on iterative learning cavity pressure control. *Prod. Eng.* 2017, *11*, 97–106, doi:10.1007/s11740-017-0719-6.
- Mahajan, L.D.; Ulhe, P.N. Analysis of Injection Molding Process To Reduced Defects (Short-Shot). Int. J. Eng. Technol. Manag. Res. 2018, 5, 113–119, doi:10.5281/zenodo.1313112.
- Sudsawat, S.; Sriseubsai, W. Warpage reduction through optimized process parameters and annealed process of injection-molded plastic parts. *J. Mech. Sci. Technol.* 2018, *32*, 4787–4799, doi:10.1007/s12206-018-0926-x.
- Kashyap, S.; Datta, D. Process parameter optimization of plastic injection molding: a review. *Int. J. Plast. Technol.* 2015, *19*, 1–18, doi:10.1007/s12588-015-9115-2.
- Diani, J.; Gall, K. Finite Strain 3D Thermoviscoelastic Constitutive Model. Society 2006, doi:10.1002/pen.
- 125. Kutsbakh, A.A.; Muranov, A.N.; Semenov, A.B.; Semenov, B.I. Outstanding problems

of numerical simulation of the process of injection molding of PIM-feedstocks and component quality. *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.* **2019**, *525*, doi:10.1088/1757-899X/525/1/012031.

- 126. Gao, Y.; Wang, X. An effective warpage optimization method in injection molding based on the Kriging model. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 2008, 37, 953–960, doi:10.1007/s00170-007-1044-6.
- 127. Baek, D.S.; Li, C.; Nam, J.S.; Na, C.R.; Kim, M.; Rhee, B.; Lee, S.W. A study on condition monitoring and diagnosis of injection molding process using probabilistic neural network method. ASME 2014 Int. Manuf. Sci. Eng. Conf. MSEC 2014 Collocated with JSME 2014 Int. Conf. Mater. Process. 42nd North Am. Manuf. Res. Conf. 2014, 1, 1–7, doi:10.1115/MSEC2014-4058.
- Zhang, J.; Alexander, S.M. Fault diagnosis in injection moulding via cavity pressure signals. *Int. J. Prod. Res.* 2008, 46, 6499–6512, doi:10.1080/00207540701429918.
- 129. Gao, R.X.; Fan, Z.; Kazmer, D.O. Injection molding process monitoring using a selfenergized dual-parameter sensor. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.* 2008, 57, 389–393, doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2008.03.055.
- 130. Gordon, G.; Kazmer, D.O.; Tang, X.Y.; Fan, Z.Y.; Gao, R.X. Validation of an in-mold multivariate sensor for measurement of melt temperature, pressure, velocity, and viscosity. *Int. Polym. Process.* 2017, *32*, 406–415, doi:10.3139/217.2964.
- 131. Ogorodnyk, O.; Martinsen, K. Monitoring and Control for Thermoplastics Injection Molding A Review. *Procedia CIRP* 2018, 67, 380–385, doi:10.1016/j.procir.2017.12.229.
- Park, H.S.; Phuong, D.X.; Kumar, S. AI Based Injection Molding Process for Consistent Product Quality. *Procedia Manuf.* 2019, 28, 102–106, doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2018.12.017.

- Chen, Z.; Turng, L.S. A review of current developments in process and quality control for injection molding. *Adv. Polym. Technol.* 2005, *24*, 165–182, doi:10.1002/adv.20046.
- 134. Kanagalakshmi, S.; Manamalli, D.; Mohamedrafiq, M. Implementation of multimodelbased PID and intelligent controller for simulated and real-time temperature control of injection molding machine. *Chem. Eng. Commun.* 2015, 203, 452–462, doi:10.1080/00986445.2015.1023299.
- Schiffers, R.; Holzinger, G.P.; Huster, G. Adaptive process control for stabilizing the production process in injection moulding machines. *10th Int. Fluid Power Conf.* 2016, 341–352.
- Wang, J.; Mao, Q. Methodology Based on the PVT Behavior of Polymer for Injection Molding. *Adv. Polym. Technol.* 2012, *32*, 474–485, doi:10.1002/adv.
- Yang, Z.; Peng, H.; Wang, W.; Liu, T. Real-Time Ultrasonic Monitoring of the Injection-Molding Process. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2010, 116, 2658–2667, doi:10.1002/app.
- Park, H.S.; Dang, X.P. Development of a Smart Plastic Injection Mold with Conformal Cooling Channels. *Procedia Manuf.* 2017, 10, 48–59, doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.020.
- Park, H.S.; Dang, X.P. Development of technology for improving productivity and quality of injection molding. *Ann. DAAAM Proc. Int. DAAAM Symp.* 2017, 309–314, doi:10.2507/28th.daaam.proceedings.042.
- 140. Kulkarni, S. Robust process development and scientific molding: Theory and practice;2017; ISBN 9783446422759.

Appendix : Control design and simulation module in LabView

Connecting LabView to PLC using OPC

NI LabVIEW software can communicate with a programmable logic controller (PLC) in a number of ways. OLE for Process Control (OPC) defines a standard for communicating realtime plant data between a control unit and a Human Machine Interface (HMI). The OPC server can be used with almost any PLC and programmable automation controller (PAC). In this tutorial, you will learn how to use LabVIEW to communicate with a networked PLC using OPC. The LabVIEW Data Logging and Supervisory Control (DSC) module is used in this tutorial. This module includes tools for logging data to a networked historical database, real-time and historical trends, alarm and event management, networking LabVIEW Real-Time targets and OPC devices into one complete system, and adding security to your user interface. These features make LabVIEW a powerful HMI/SCADA package for industrial control applications.

Eile Edit Mi-	Tools Puttin	a Hela		
File Edit Vie	W TOOIS RUNTIN			
		🖉 🖼 🖉 🖌 🖉 🖉 🗶 📔	20	
🕀 🗣 Channel	1		Tag Na / Address Data Type Scan Rate Scaling Descri	ption
🗄 🖣 Data Typ	e Examples			
🕂 🗬 Simulati	on Examples			
			۰ m	
Date	Time	Source	Event	
4/5/2012	5:20:28 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime	NI OPC Servers 2012	
4/5/2012	5:20:29 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Simulator device driver loaded successfully.	
4/5/2012	5:20:31 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Starting Simulator device driver.	
1 4/5/2012	5:20:31 PM	Simulator	Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0	
	5:20:32 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Runtime service started.	
4/5/2012	STREWISE I ITT			
4/5/2012	5:20:36 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W)	
4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended	
b 4/5/2012 b 4/5/2012 b 4/6/2012 b 4/6/2012	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:06 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully.	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver.	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime Simulator	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime Simulator NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started.	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/10/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM 12:36:41 PM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NLOPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started. Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W)	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/10/2012 4/10/2012 4/11/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM 12:36:41 PM 7:18:05 AM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime Simulator NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started. Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/10/2012 4/10/2012 4/11/2012 4/12/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:16 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM 12:36:41 PM 7:18:05 AM 10:23:52 AM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime Simulator NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started. Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W)	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/10/2012 4/12/2012 4/12/2012 4/12/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM 12:36:41 PM 7:18:05 AM 10:23:52 AM 7:56:77 AM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started. Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User and Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User has ended Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W)	
 4/5/2012 4/5/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/6/2012 4/11/2012 4/12/2012 4/12/2012 4/16/2012 4/16/2012 	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM 12:36:41 PM 7:18:05 AM 10:23:52 AM 7:56:27 AM 8:00:28 AM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime Simulator NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NLOPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started. Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User (R/W)	
	5:20:36 PM 7:26:05 AM 7:12:06 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:18 PM 7:12:19 PM 12:36:41 PM 7:18:05 AM 10:23:52 AM 7:56:27 AM 8:00:28 AM 8:01:49 AM	NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime Simulator NI OPC Servers\Runtime NI OPC Servers\Runtime	Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully. Starting Simulator device driver. Simulator Device Driver V5.5.113.0 Runtime service started. Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session started by pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User (R/W) Configuration session assigned to pbouagno as Default User has ended NI OPC Servers 2012 Simulator device driver loaded successfully.	

NI OPC Server 2012

File Edit View						
	v Tools Help					
🗅 🚅 日 🛫	💣 💣 😭 👗 🖻	R X				
🖃 📹 National Ir	nstruments.NIOPCServe	ers.V5	Item ID	/ Data Type	Value	Timestamp
System			Simulation Examples.Functions.Ramp1	Long	47	14:50:22.983
			Simulation Examples.Functions.Ramp2	Float	179.5	14:50:22.983
			Simulation Examples.Functions.Ramp3	Long	979	14:50:22.98
Channel1.Device1System			Simulation Examples.Functions.Ramp4	Long	170	14:50:22.98
👘 Data Type ExamplesSystem			Simulation Examples.Functions.Random1	Long	0	14:50:22.98
Data Type Examples.16 Bit DeviceSystem Data Type Examples.16 Bit Device.K Registers Data Type Examples.16 Bit Device.R Registers Data Type Examples.16 Bit Device.R Registers Data Type Examples.16 Bit Device.R Registers			Simulation Examples.Functions.Random2	Long	950	14:50:22.98
			Simulation Examples.Functions.Random3	Long	-850	14:50:22.98
			Simulation Examples.Functions.Random4	Long	966	14:50:21.97
			Simulation Examples.Functions.Sine1	Float	-39.0367	14:50:22.98
Data T	ype Examples 20 Die De	ice System	Simulation Examples.Functions.Sine2			14:50:22.98
Data Type Examples & Bit Device_system Data Type Examples & Bit Device.K Registers Data Type Examples & Bit Device.R Registers Data Type Examples & Bit Device.S Registers Data Type Examples & Bit Device.S Registers			Simulation Examples.Functions.Sine3		-17.0312	14:50:22.98
			Simulation Examples.Functions.Sine4		-17.0312	14:50:22.98
			Simulation Examples.Functions.User1	String	This	14:50:21.97
			Simulation Examples.Functions.User2	Float	100.56	14:50:17.91
			Simulation Examples.Functions.User3	Boolean	1	14:50:21.97
- Simula	ation Examples.Function	ons	Simulation Examples.Functions.User4	String	To display a com	14:50:22.983
			•			
)ate	Time	Event	< [
)ate 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected t	in o server 'National Instruments.NIOPCServers.V5'.			
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected t Added grou	v v v v v server 'National Instruments.NIOPCServers.V5'. v System' to 'National Instruments.NIOPCServers.V	·5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 ite	v v v v v v v server 'National Instruments.NIOPCServers.V5'. v v v v system' to 'National Instruments.NIOPCServers.V ms to group '_System'.	·5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 ite Added grou	in in	'5'. CServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 ite Added grou Added grou	in in	15'. CServers.V5'. hts.NIOPCServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected t Added grou Added 19 ite Added grou Added grou Added z iter	('5'. CServers.V5'. Its.NIOPCServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected f Added grou Added 19 its Added grou Added 2 iter Added qrou	('5'. CServers.V5'. nts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 ite Added grou Added 2 iter Added 2 iter Added 5 iter	('5'. CServers.V5'. nts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:27 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 itt Added grou Added grou Added 2 iter Added 5 iter Added 5 iter	(15'. CServers.V5'. nts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:27 PM 2:37:27 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 itt Added grou Added 2 iter Added 5 iter Added 2 iter Added 2 iter	(15'. CServers.V5'. nts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'. ients.NIOPCServers.V5'.		
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:26 PM 2:37:27 PM 2:37:27 PM 2:37:27 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 itt Added grou Added 2 iter Added 5 iter Added 5 iter Added grou Added grou Added grou	(15'. CServers.V5'. hts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'. ients.NIOPCServers.V5', ienal Instruments.NIOP	CServers.V5',	
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:27 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 itt Added grou Added 2 iter Added grou Added 2 iter Added grou Added 2 iter Added grou Added grou	(15'. CServers.V5'. hts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'. ients.NIOPCServers.V5'. ional Instruments.NIOP	'CServers.V5',	
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:27 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 itc Added grou Added 2 iten Added 2 iten Added 2 iten Added 2 iten Added grou Added 2 iten Added grou Added 2 iten	(15'. CServers.V5'. hts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'. ients.NIOPCServers.V5'. ional Instruments.NIOP Vational Instruments.NIOP	'CServers.V5', OPCServers.V5',	
Date 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012 5/7/2012	Time 2:37:26 PM 2:37:27 PM	Event Connected 1 Added grou Added 19 ite Added grou Added 2 iten Added 2 iten Added 3 iten Added 3 iten Added grou Added grou Added grou Added grou	(15'. CServers.V5'. hts.NIOPCServers.V5'. CServers.V5'. tents.NIOPCServers.V5'. tional Instruments.NIOP Vational Instruments.NI	'CServers.V5'. OPCServers.V5'.	,

OPC Tag data



I/O server



PLC data in waveform